

## Comprehensive Analysis of Genetic Mutations in HPV-Positive and HPV-Negative Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Literature Review

Mai Atique

Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences

McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada

April 2024

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Dental Sciences © Mai Atique, 2024

# DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my support system, my beloved parents *Ramadan & Ghada*, and to my brothers *Mohamed*, *BahaaElDin & Amro*. In that order.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge and give my warmest special thanks and appreciation to Dean of the Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, *Elham Emami* who was always there when needed. The assistance she provided me on multiple occasions has been invaluable. Thanking *Dr. Sabrina Wurzba* for her constant mentorship, who made this work possible. Her guidance and advice carried me through all the stages of writing my thesis. This endeavor would not have been possible without the help and support I have taken throughout this journey from my supervisors *Dr. Sabrina Wurzba and Dr. Belinda Nicolau*. Words cannot express my gratitude to them for their invaluable patience and feedback. I would like to express my deepest appreciation to rest of committee members *Dr. Firoozeh Samim* and *Dr. Alex Mlynarek* who generously provided knowledge and expertise. I am deeply indebted to their discussions and feedback that allowed me to progress further with excellence.

This work wouldn't be done unless getting supported by FRQ-S/RSBO#35376, DFATD -CBIE-FMPB, NCOHR (New Frontier Seed Grant 2020-2022), CIHR (SDS-2022-2027). Thanks to the support of the *Dr. Arthur Rosenberg Memorial Fellowship Graduate Scholarship Fund*. The authors acknowledge all the valuable support from the Head and Neck Foundation (Jewish General Hospital—Faculty of Medicine—McGill University) and the *Marvin Carsley Research Fund*. Additionally, I'm extremely grateful to the librarian *Andrea Quattini* who never hesitated to help whenever I needed for the literature review. I would like to extend my sincere thanks to *Crystal Noronha (Manager Student Affairs), Despoina Moirakidou* and *Alexander Vlaanderen* (Administrative and Student Affairs Coordinators) who were always providing assistance with pleasure. Thank You All! I am also grateful to the *labmates* who I learned a lot from them about laboratory experiment techniques and gave me insights about bioinformatics analysis.

From the bottom of my heart, I'd like to thank my batchmates *Heba Madi, Aia Naksho* and *Amee Sanghavi* and *many others not to forget*, for always being there whenever I felt down and kept on encouraging me, believing and finding a way to be around me to reach this stage. Lastly, to my caring, loving and supportive family, thanks always for helping me to allow all the time to write my thesis. Your prayers and non-stop assistance day and night were the key to the success of this thesis. Love You!

# Table of Contents

DEDICATION	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
LIST OF TABLES	5
LIST OF FIGURES	6
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	7
ABSTRACT	10
RÉSUMÉ	
PREFACE	14
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	15
1 INTRODUCTION	17
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 HNC definition	18
2.2 HNC descriptive epidemiology	20
<ul> <li>2.3 HNC risk factors</li> <li>2.3.1 Tobacco consumption</li> <li>2.3.2 Alcohol consumption</li> <li>2.3.3 HPV infection</li> <li>2.3.3.1 HPV genome structure</li> <li>2.3.2 HPV carcinogenesis</li> <li>2.3.3 HPV-positive OPSCC inflammation mechanism</li> </ul>	22 22 23 24 26
2.4 Other risk factors	31
2.5 HNC treatment and prognosis	32
3 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	33
4 MANUSCRIPT	34
5 DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSION	61
6 REFERENCES	64
7 APPENDIX- Supplementary Material for Manuscript	

# LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1:</b> Clinical and pathological classification for HPV- positive OPSCC following the eighth edition UICC/AJCC TNM staging system
<b>Table 2:</b> Description of the HPV proteins and their functions involving early region (E1-E8)
and late region (L1 and L2)
Table3:DifferentcharacteristicsofHPV-positiveandHPV-negative
OPSCC
Manuscript Tables
Table 1. Characteristics of the published studies included in the
analysis
Supplemental Tables
Supplemental Table S1: Data extraction of the included articles in the scoping
review76
Supplemental Table S2: Distribution of the OSCC cases according to demographic, lifestyle,
and clinical
variables

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure1: Different topographies of HNC	19
Figure 2: Alpha-papillomaviruses types.	23
Figure 3: HPV from discovery to vaccination.	
Figure 4: HPV genome organization structure	25
Figure 5: Waldeyer's ring	29
Figure 6: Epithelium of tonsils.	

## Manuscript Figures

Figure 1: PRISMA flowchart highlighting the search strategy used to retrieve studies from the						
databases	(Medline,	PubMed,	Web	of	Science,	and
Scopus)				•••••		41
Figure 2: Co	omparison of mutati	ion frequencie	s and gene exp	pression p	profiles in HP	V-positive
and HPV-neg	gative OPC					43
Figure 3: (A	) Gene sets with lov	<i>x</i> p-values and	l high enrichme	ent score	s identified a s	significant
biological co	ontext in the regula	tion of neutro	phil activation	. (B) Pro	otein-protein i	nteraction
(PPI) data ar	e represented as no	des (proteins)	and edges (inte	eractions	) to construct	a network
based on co	mputational algorit	hms that inte	grate various	sources	of biological	data. (C)
Enrichment analysis showed functional categories and pathways overrepresented in the						
network related to the regulation of cell-cell adhesion, especially related to integrin						
signaling45						
Figure 4: (A) The UMAP (Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection) plot illustrates						
cell clusters created through Louvain clustering of ELA2 gene expression in various immune						
cell types						46
Figure 5:	Squamous cell	carcinoma c	comprises ove	er 95%	of head a	and neck
cancers						47

### Supplemental Figures

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Definition
HNC	Head and neck cancer
HPV	Human papillomavirus
OPC	Oropharyngeal cancer
OPSCC	Oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
TCGA	The cancer genome atlas
AJCC	The American joint committee on cancer
UICC	The union for international cancer control
MeSH	Medical subject headings
REC	Research ethics committee
REB	Research ethics board
WES	Whole genome sequencing
NGS	Next-generation sequencing
ISH	In situ hybridization
IHC	Immunohistochemical
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
OGM	Optical genome mapping
RPPA	Reverse phase protein array
PPI	Protein-protein interaction
MDSCs	Myeloid-derived suppressor cells
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
NLR	Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma
OSCC	Oral squamous cell carcinoma
LSCC	Laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma
NSCC	Nasal squamous cell carcinoma
ICD-0	International Classification of Diseases for Oncology
GLOBOCAN	Global Cancer Observatory

WHO	World Health Organization
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
INHANCE	International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology
TSNA	Tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
HHV4	Human herpesvirus 4
KSHV	Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus
HHV8	Human herpesvirus 8
MCPyV	Merkel cell polyomavirus
HTLV-1	Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1
OR	Odds ratio
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
RB1	Retinoblastoma
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
p53	tumor protein p53
pRb	Retinoblastoma protein
PVs	Papillomaviruses
Вр	Base pairs
Ε	Early
L	Late
VLPs	Virus-like particles
ORFs	Open reading frames
SARS-CoV-2	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2
OS	Overall survival
TORS	Transoral robotic surgery
g:Profiler	Functional enrichment analysis tool
HSPG	Heparin sulfate proteoglycan
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
TNM	Tumor, node, metastasis

Т	Extent of the tumor
Ν	Extend of spread to the lymph nodes
М	Presence of metastasis
LN	Lymph nodes
LCR	Long control region
RhPV1	Rhesus papillomavirus type 1
PCPV-1	Pygmy chimpanzee papillomavirus type 1
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
GSEA	Gene set enrichment analysis
ELA2	Neutrophil elastase 2
Qupath	Quantitative pathology
STATA	Statistics and data
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ASIR	Age-standardized incidence rate
AF	Attributable fraction
FDA	Food and drug administration
MALT	Mucosal-associated lymphoid tissues

## ABSTRACT

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is linked with the high incidence of oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas (OPSCC). Although HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCC have distinct oncogenesis processes, the literature lacks a comprehensive summary about specific genetic alterations. Therefore, our study was done to compile, analyze, and interpret existing information on genetic mutations in HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCC to understand molecular characteristics of these tumors. The objectives of this research are to 1) conduct comprehensive literature review to identify and characterize genetic alterations involved in HPV-positive OPSCC, 2) conduct secondary analysis using The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) public platform to validate the identified genetic alterations in HPV-positive OPSCC, 3) investigate biological processes using enriched pathways analysis, and 4) validate these pathways using large cohort of samples obtained from patients with OPSCC. We searched the literature in four bibliographic databases (Medline, PubMed, Web of Science and Scopus) for eligible studies based on MeSH (Medical Subject Headings) terms and keywords. Search terms included HPV, papillomavirus, head and neck cancer (HNC), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), OPSCC, and pharyngeal cancer. Studies selected from the databases were imported into Rayyan software for identification and removal of duplicates and for screening titles and abstracts by three reviewers based on predefined eligibility criteria. List of the genetic alterations in HPV-positive and HPV-negative were extracted. A bioinformatician used the TCGA platform to validate the genetic alterations in HPV-positive and HPV-negative and their potential clinicopathological impact. Enriched analysis was done to identify the most relevant pathways and molecular markers using multiple software including g:Profiler, GSEA, Cytoscape and EnrichmentMap. A molecular candidate (Neutrophil Elastase/ELA2 antibody) involved with neutrophil infiltration was identified to be validated by immunohistochemistry reaction (IHC). Tissue slides were scanned in Aperio ScanScope® (Leica Biosystems) and quantified using QuPath (v0.2.3). Statistical analysis was done to compare the clinicopathological data with the protein expression using STATA (StataCorp LLC). It was identified 1556 studies and retained 38 studies for extraction, including studies that were published between 1995 and 2023 involving 8,311 HNC patients from 12 different countries. The 10 most common mutated genes that were identified from conducting the comprehensive literature review were TP53 (n=22), PIK3CA (n=20), PTEN (n=16), NOTCH1 (n=14), RB1 (n=13), FAT1 (n=13), FBXW7 (n=12), HRAS (n=10), KRAS (n=10) and CDKN2A (n=10). These genes are involved with several biological processes such as cell cycle and

deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage response, PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, Notch signaling pathway and RAS/MAPK signaling pathway. From TCGA analysis, the most prevalent mutated genes in HPV-positive OPSCC were PIK3CA, TP53, PTEN, NOTCH1, FAT1, RB1, FBXW7, HRAS, KRAS, and CDKN2A. Pathways enriched analysis revealed alteration in inflammatory responses, specifically related with neutrophils infiltration. Validation was conducted in a cohort of patients with OPSCC, consisting of 12 metastatic and 40 non-metastatic cases, followed for over 10 years. Notably, metastatic HPVpositive OPSCC showed upregulation of the nuclear ELA2, while non-metastatic tumors exhibited weak to moderate expression. ELA2 protein was overexpressed in OPSCC samples, especially in recurrent OPSCC tumors.

# RÉSUMÉ

Le virus du papillome humain (VPH) est associé à l'incidence élevée des carcinomes épidermoïdes oropharyngés (CEOP). Bien que les CEOP VPH positifs et négatifs aient des processus d'oncogenèse distincts, la littérature ne résume pas entièrement les altérations génétiques spécifiques. Notre étude a compilé, analysé et interprété les informations sur les mutations génétiques dans les CEOP VPH-positifs et VPH-négatifs pour comprendre leurs caractéristiques moléculaires. Les objectifs de cette recherche sont de 1) mener une revue complète de la littérature pour identifier et caractériser les altérations génétiques impliquées dans le CEOP VPH-positifs, 2) effectuer une analyse secondaire avec la plateforme publique l'Atlas du génome du cancer (TCGA) pour valider les altérations génétiques dans les CEOP VPH-positifs, 3) étudier les processus biologiques via une analyse de voies enrichies et 4) Valider ces voies avec une large cohorte d'échantillons de patients atteints de CEOP. Nous avons recherché dans quatre bases de données bibliographiques (Medline, PubMed, Web of Science et Scopus) pour trouver des études éligibles basées sur les termes et mots-clés MeSH (Medical Subject Headings). Les termes de recherche incluent le VPH, le papillomavirus, le cancer de la tête et du cou (CTC), le carcinome épidermoïde de la tête et du cou (CETEC), le CEOP et le cancer du pharynx. Les études sélectionnées ont été importées dans le logiciel Rayyan pour l'identification et la suppression des doublons ainsi que pour la sélection des titres et des résumés par trois examinateurs selon des critères prédéfinis. La liste des altérations génétiques chez les VPH positifs et négatifs a été extraite. Un bioinformaticien a utilisé la plateforme TCGA pour valider les altérations génétiques des VPH positifs et VPH négatifs ainsi que leur impact clinicopathologique potentiel. Une analyse enrichie a été réalisée pour identifier les voies et les marqueurs moléculaires les plus pertinents avec plusieurs logiciels, notamment g:Profiler, GSEA, Cytoscape et EnrichmentMap. Un candidat moléculaire (anticorps Neutrophil Elastase/ELA2) impliqué dans l'infiltration des neutrophiles a été identifié pour être validé par réaction immunohistochimique (IHC). Les lames de tissus ont été numérisées dans Aperio ScanScope® (Leica Biosystems) et quantifiées avec QuPath (v0.2.3). Une analyse statistique a comparé les données clinicopathologiques avec l'expression de la protéine en utilisant STATA (StataCorp LLC). 1 556 études ont été identifiées et 38 études ont été retenues pour extraction, y compris des études publiées entre 1995 et 2023 portant sur 8 311 patients CTC de 12 pays différents. Les 10 gènes mutés les plus courants identifiés lors de la revue de la littérature étaient TP53 (n = 22), PIK3CA (n = 20), PTEN (n = 16), NOTCH1 (n = 14), RB1 (n = 13), FAT1 (n = 13), FBXW7 (n = 12), HRAS (n = 10), KRAS (n = 10) et

*CDKN2A* (n = 10). Ces gènes sont impliqués dans plusieurs processus biologiques tels que la réponse aux dommages du cycle cellulaire et de l'acide désoxyribonucléique (ADN), la voie de signalisation PI3K/AKT/mTOR, la voie de signalisation Notch et la voie de signalisation RAS-MAPK. D'après l'analyse TCGA, les gènes mutés les plus répandus dans les CEOP positifs pour le VPH étaient *PIK3CA, TP53, PTEN, NOTCH1, FAT1, RB1, FBXW7, HRAS, KRAS* et *CDKN2A*. L'analyse enrichie des voies a révélé une altération des réponses inflammatoires, spécifiquement liée à l'infiltration de neutrophiles. La validation a été réalisée dans une cohorte de patients atteints de CEOP, composée de 12 cas métastatiques et 40 cas non métastatiques, suivis pendant plus de 10 ans. Notamment, les CEOP métastatiques positifs au VPH ont montré une régulation positive de l'ELA2 nucléaire, tandis que les tumeurs non métastatiques présentaient une expression faible à modérée. La protéine ELA2 était surexprimée dans les échantillons CEOP, en particulier dans les tumeurs CEOP récurrentes.

## PREFACE

This is a manuscript-based thesis written according to the updated standards established by McGill Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies for fulfilling the requirements of a Master's degree in the Dental Sciences-Thesis program. The manuscript follows the primary goal of this research which is a comprehensive literature review analyzing the genetic mutations in both HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCCs in order to understand the molecular characteristics of these tumors. Based on the standards of McGill University, the manuscript comprised a separate set of appendices and references list.

The first chapter includes an introduction to the topic, which is followed by a literature review providing the current knowledge in the field. The manuscript related to the thesis is presented in the third chapter as a standalone document, including the published tables, figures, supplementary materials, and references list. The fourth chapter ends the thesis with an overall conclusion and future directions. Lastly, a list of references used for the thesis writing is provided.

The manuscript involved a multidisciplinary team and the specific contribution from each author was provided in the next section.

# **CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS**

Manuscript:

## Genetic Mutations Associated with Inflammatory Response Caused by HPV Integration in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma

**Mai Atique**, Master's Candidate, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, McGill University, 2001 Avenue McGill College, Montréal, QC, H3A 1G1, Canada: Screened and selected studies, extracted data, assessed the quality of studies, and wrote the manuscript.

**Isis Muniz,** PhD, Faculty of Dentistry, Federal University of Paraíba, Cidade Universitária Campus I Castelo Branco III João Pessoa, Paraíba, 58051-900. Brazil, Postgraduate Program in Dentistry (PPGO): Screened and selected studies, validated, and reviewed the manuscript.

**Fatemeh Farshadi,** Master's Candidate, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, 3755 Chem. de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine, Montréal, QC, H3T 1E2, Canada, Division of Experimental Medicine: Screened and selected studies, validated, and reviewed the manuscript.

**Michael Hier,** Professor, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, 3755 Chem. de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine, Montréal, QC, H3T 1E2, Canada, Department of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery: Provided resources and contributed to review the manuscript.

Alex Mlynarek, Associate Professor, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, 3755 Chem. de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine, Montréal, QC, H3T 1E2, Canada, Department of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery: Contributed to review the manuscript.

**Marco Macarella,** Assistant Professor, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, 3755 Chem. de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine, Montréal, QC, H3T 1E2, Canada, Department of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery: Contributed to write the manuscript.

**Mariana Maschietto, Professor,** Department of Structural and Functional Biology, Institute of Biology, Universidade Estadual de Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas 13084-225, SP, Brazil, Boldrini Children's Center, Campinas 13084-225, SP, Brazil: Contributed to the study design, data analysis, data visualization, and reviewed the manuscript.

**Belinda Nicolau**, Professor, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, McGill University, 2001 Avenue McGill College, Montréal, QC, H3A 1G1, Canada: Provided feedback on manuscript structure and reviewed the manuscript.

**Moulay A. Alaoui-Jamali,** Professor, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, 3755 Chem. de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine, Montréal, QC, H3T 1E2, Canada, Division of Experimental Medicine: Provided critical review and comments to improve the manuscript.

**Sabrina Daniela da Silva,** Associate Professor, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, 3755 Chem. de la Côte-Sainte-Catherine, Montréal, QC, H3T 1E2, Canada, Department of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery: Supervised all steps, contributed to the conceptual design, interpretation, and reviewed the manuscript (Corresponding Author).

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

Cancer stands as the leading cause to death in the world imposing a substantial burden on individuals' health and the healthcare system<sup>1</sup>. It is expected that approximately 45% of Canadians will develop cancer during their lifetime, with an estimated fatality rate of 22%<sup>1</sup>. In 2020, cancer caused a higher proportion of total deaths (26.4%) compared to other leading causes, including heart disease (17.5%), severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (5.3%), accidents (5.0%), and cerebrovascular diseases (4.5%)<sup>1</sup>. Quebec and eastern provinces have shown higher cancer mortality rates than Ontario and western provinces<sup>1</sup>. Among different cancer types, HNC affect over five million people worldwide each year and causing 370,000 deaths<sup>2,3</sup>.

Aside from tobacco and alcohol consumption, HPV has been recognized as being linked to the increased incidence of HNC, mainly affecting the base of the tongue and tonsils<sup>4</sup>. This incidence can be seen in high income countries such as Canada, United States, Australia, and Sweden through which males below 60 years old are the most affected<sup>5</sup>. HPV is a group of viruses that have genetic material of circular double-stranded DNA that can integrate into host cell genome infecting skin and mucous membranes of humans<sup>6,7</sup>.

HPV is the most known sexually transmitted virus which can be categorized into high-risk and low-risk types<sup>8</sup>. Persistent infections with high-risk HPV types result in genetic changes in the host cells<sup>9</sup>. The E6 and E7 oncoproteins drive genetic instability that affect different cellular processes by mainly inhibiting apoptosis and promoting cancer cell proliferation<sup>9</sup>. The current standard of care for both HPV-positive and negative HNC comprises surgical procedures associated with chemo-radiotherapy<sup>4</sup>. However, this strategy is linked with severe adverse effects<sup>4</sup>. Several studies are proposing de-escalation clinical trials for HPV-positive OPSCC patients aiming to improve the quality of life and avoid late toxicity while maintaining acceptable survival rates<sup>10</sup>. OPSCC often exhibits genetic changes, which may result in abnormal activation of signaling pathways that contribute to tumor development<sup>11</sup>. Several studies have discussed the specific genetic alterations involved in HPV-positive OPSCC. However, there is lack of a conclusive result. This thesis conducted a comprehensive literature review involving HPV-positive OPSCC to summarize our current understanding of the

epidemiology, risk factors, genetic predisposition, carcinogenesis with a particular focus on aberrant signaling pathways and immunomodulatory mechanisms.

## **2 LITERATURE REVIEW**

This chapter presents a literature review about epidemiology and the primary risk factors such as tobacco, alcohol, and HPV infection associated with HNC. It describes the characteristics of HPV, carcinogenesis, genetic predisposition, and a brief explanation about inflammatory infiltration. This section's end shows the clinical impact of HPV-positive HNC aligned with the thesis's goals.

## 2.1 HNC definition

HNC is a group of malignancies that affect different parts in the head and neck region, including oral cavity, oro- naso- and hypopharynx, larynx, paranasal sinuses, and salivary glands<sup>12,13</sup>. HNC is a heterogenous group of diseases that comprises variety of subclassifications regarding location, aetiology and molecular findings<sup>14</sup>. However, more than 90% are classified as HNSCC<sup>15-18</sup>. The International Classification of Diseases for Oncology (ICD-O), introduced in 1976 established a topographical code, starting with "C," to identify the anatomical site, followed by three digits indicating primary location and subsite<sup>19</sup>. For instance the classification includes: a) oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) (ICD-10: C10.8), which includes posterior and lateral pharyngeal walls, soft palate, tonsils, base and posterior one-third of the tongue, c) laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma (LSCC) (ICD-10: C32.8) that consists of carcinomas in the subglottis, glottis and supralottis, and d) nasal squamous cell carcinoma (NSCC) (ICD-10: D02.3) including nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses<sup>18,20</sup> (**Figure1**). The focus of this thesis is HPV-positive OPSCC.



**Figure 1: Different topographies of HNC.** HNC is divided into OSCC (green), OPSCC (orange), LSCC (purple) and NSCC (blue) through which over 90% are SCC. Each color code refers to the parts associated with each SCC region. OPSCC affects posterior and lateral pharyngeal walls, soft palate, tonsils, base, and posterior one-third of the tongue. Figure created using biorender. *Abbreviations:* SCC: squamous cell carcinoma; OPSCC: oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma; NSCC: nasal squamous cell carcinoma; LSCC: laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma.

Besides ICD-O classification, the TNM (Tumor, Node, Metastasis) system is used to stage cancer based on tumor extension<sup>21</sup>. The system is used to classify malignancy and assist in prognostic cancer staging<sup>21</sup>. In 1968, the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC) introduced the initial TNM classification, then updated into further editions which were published by the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC)<sup>22</sup>. Over time, the classification has undergone multiple updates<sup>23</sup>. In 2018, a new clinical and pathological TNM classification was published to address the distinct prognosis associated with HPV-positive OPSCC in the eighth edition<sup>24-26</sup> (**Table 1**).

HPV- positive OPSCC	Clinical Stage			Pathologic Stage		
Category	Т	Ν	Μ	Т	Ν	Μ
Stage I	T1,T2	N0: no regional LN's N1: ipsilateral LNs	M0	T1,T2	N0: no regional LNs N1: 1-4 LNs	M0
	T1,T2	N2: bilateral or contralateral LNs	M0	T1,T2	N2: greater than or equal 5 LNs	M0
Stage II	T3	N0: no regional LNs N1: ipsilateral LNs N2: bilateral or contralateral LNs	M0	T3,T4	N0: no regional LNs N1: 1-4 LNs	
Stago III	T4	Any N	M0	T3,T4	N2: greater than or equal 5 LNs	M0
Stage III	Any T	N3: greater than 6 cm LN(s)	M0			
Stage IV	Any T	Any T	M1	Any T	Any N	M1

 Table 1: Clinical and pathological classification for HPV- positive OPSCC following the eighth

 edition UICC/AJCC TNM staging system.

*Abbreviations*: UICC = The union for international cancer control; AJCC = The American joint committee on cancer; TNM = Tumor, Node, Metastasis; HPV = human papilloma virus; OPSCC = oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma; T = extent of the tumor; N = extent of spread to the lymph nodes; M = presence of metastasis; LN = lymph nodes. Adapted from<sup>27</sup>.

## 2.2 HNC descriptive epidemiology

The world's population is expected to reach around 9.2 billion by 2040 with an estimated 29 million cases new cases of cancer<sup>28</sup>. By 2030, it is predicted 30% increase in HNC cases reaching 1.08 million new cases diagnosed per year<sup>29</sup>. According to GLOBOCAN (Global cancer observatory) data, HNC ranks as the seventh most prevalent worldwide, with around 890,000 new cases diagnosed annually, representing around 4.5% of all cancer diagnoses<sup>30-32</sup>. Also, it leads to approximately 450,000 fatalities each year, accounting for 4.6% of all cancer-related deaths across the globe: ranking as the ninth most common cause of death<sup>33</sup>.

According to Canadian Cancer Society, Canada registered 7,500 cases of HNC and 2,100 death cases in 2022<sup>34</sup>. Moreover, an estimated 38,000 cases of HNCs associated with HPV, specifically in the oropharyngeal area, occur per year<sup>35</sup>. Between 1998 and 2004, there was a

225% rise in HPV-positive OPSCC, while at the same time, a 50% decrease in cancers linked to alcohol and tobacco was observed<sup>36</sup>. By the year 2040, it is anticipated that HPV will emerge as the primary causal factor for OPSCC<sup>36,37</sup>.

Around 4% of all cancers that occurs in the United States are caused by HNC; it was estimated 66,920 HNC new diagnosed cases and 15,400 HNC death cases by 2023<sup>38</sup>. HNC incidence is increasing in low income and high-income countries, and several etiological factors are behind this rise<sup>39</sup>. The incidence of HPV-positive OPSCC present both geographic and sex differences; through which studies have shown that age-standardized incidence rate (ASIR) is elevated in Europe and North America<sup>34,35</sup>. Despite male and female being affected by HPV-positive OPSCC, the ASIR showed higher rates in males than females; overall, male have two to four times higher incidence than female<sup>34,35</sup>. Worldwide, the attributable fraction (AF) or proportion of HPV-positive OPSCC has risen from 30.8% to 42.7%<sup>34,35</sup>. The highest incidence of HPV-positive OPSCC in the United States (66.3%; CI 56.1-75.9) showed similar increasing patterns as in Canada<sup>35-37</sup>. The ASIR of HPV-positive OPSCC increased from 1.6 per 100,000 population in 1992 to 2.6 in 2009<sup>38</sup>. OPSCC cases were more prevalent in males than in females, with 1.5% change per year for male compared to 0.8% for female<sup>39</sup>.

In relation to the mortality rates, the records showed higher OPSCC age-standardized deaths in male (0.89 per 100,000 population) than in female  $(0.17)^{37}$ . In addition, high-income countries showed higher mortality rates (1.14 in male and 0.22 in female per 100,000 population) compared to low-income countries (0.80 in male and 0.51 in female per 100,000 population)<sup>40</sup>.

## 2.3 HNC risk factors

Oncogenic viruses such as HPV, alcohol and tobacco consumption are considered the main risk factors for HNC<sup>1</sup>. Areca nut (betel quid) chewing is also associated with HNC in Southeast Asia and Asia-Pacific<sup>41</sup>. However, this section will focus on the main risks' factors associated with HNC development.

#### 2.3.1 Tobacco consumption

According to World Health Organization (WHO) report in 2023, tobacco remains a significant public health issue, causing the deaths of more than eight million individuals per year<sup>42,43</sup>. Death cases of non-smokers in direct contact with tobacco smokers, also known as second-hand tobacco smoke, have reached around 1.3 million cases<sup>42,43</sup>.

The relation between HNC and tobacco was first introduced by Abbe *et al.*, 1915<sup>44</sup>. Tobacco was officially classified as carcinogen for HNC in 1986 by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)<sup>45,46</sup>. The cumulative lifetime risk is linked to factors such as daily amount of tobacco, the duration and intensity of smoking including frequency of inhalations<sup>47-49</sup>. The International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology (INHANCE) consortium published a comprehensive pooled analysis from large case-control studies conducted in 2016 showed that smoking five to ten cigarettes daily (95% CI, 2.00-3.40) resulted in a two-fold increase in cancer risk compared to individuals who smoked zero to three cigarettes per day (95% CI, 1.21-1.90)<sup>47,50</sup>.

There are various forms of tobacco use, including combustible types such as cigarettes, cigars, as well as smokeless products such as areca nut and chewing tobacco<sup>51</sup>. In 2022, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) established a list of 93 carcinogens and potentially harmful constituents in tobacco smoke and tobacco products, including tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines (TSNA) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH)<sup>52,53</sup>. Surveillance of the levels of tobacco carcinogens as well as regulatory actions are needed to ensure control of their levels so that potential reduced risks of cancer and other diseases may be achieved.

### 2.3.2 Alcohol consumption

At least 75% of HNC are associated with alcohol consumption<sup>53,54</sup>. Alcohol independently increases the risk of HNC from 1% to  $4\%^{55,56}$ . Bruguere *et al.*, showed that drinkers consuming 100–160g/day (equivalent to 12.5–20 units/day) presented a relative risk (adjusted for tobacco), of 13.5 for OSCC, 15.2 for OPSCC, and 28.6 for hypopharyngeal cancers<sup>53,54</sup>. However, the synergistic effect of alcohol is evident when it interacts with tobacco, accounting for 72% of

cases<sup>56,57</sup>. Smokers who consume two or more cigarette packs and more than four drinks of alcohol daily have a higher tendency to develop HNC by more than 35 times<sup>46,49</sup>.

Once alcohol reaches the bloodstream, it undergoes frequent metabolic processes that results in toxic byproducts including hydroxyl and ethoxy radicals and acetaldehyde<sup>58</sup>. Acetaldehyde is known to be the carcinogen that triggers the malignant transformation<sup>59</sup>. The use of alcohol is usually linked to increased HNC risk, specially for alcohol users with slow ethanol metabolism<sup>59</sup>. HNC incidence may be reduced by alcohol cessation<sup>60</sup>.

### 2.3.3 HPV infection

HPV is DNA virus form a distinct family called *Papovaviridae*<sup>61,62</sup>. HPV types are categorized into mucosal (infecting upper aerodigestive and anogenital tract) or cutaneous types (infecting skin)<sup>63,64</sup>. Mucosal virus types are contributing to HNC<sup>63</sup>. Based on the potential for malignant transformation, mucosal virus can be categorized into low-risk and high-risk types<sup>64</sup>. HPV can be further classified into alpha, beta, nu, mu and gamma<sup>63</sup> (**Figure 2**).





HPV is the most common sexually transmitted disease worldwide affecting 50%-80% of sexually active persons is HPV<sup>66</sup>. In high-income countries, 72% of HNC cases are caused by HPV; whereas in low-income countries, HPV affects 13% of HNC cases<sup>67</sup>. Until now, the literature has discovered over 200 HPV subtypes<sup>68-70</sup> (Figure 3). High-risk HPV types include types -16, -18, -31, and/or -33 causing almost 90% of HPV-positive HNC<sup>71</sup>. HPV infection is associated with different types of cancers, including anal cancer, cervical cancer, HNC, penile cancer, vaginal and vulvar cancer<sup>71-73</sup>. While cervical cancer rates have declined, likely due to vaccination and effective screening; the HPV-positive anogenital and HNC are on the rise<sup>77,78</sup>.



**Figure 3: HPV from discovery to vaccination.** HPV was identified as a major risk factor for developing cervical cancer in 1970's. Numerous HPV subtypes were further identified and categorized based on their genetic features during 1980's. In 2006, HPV vaccines were discovered with Gardasil and Cervarix being the most common. *Abbreviations:* HPV: human papilloma virus; E: early; pRb: retinoblastoma protein; p53: p53 protein. Adapted from<sup>74</sup>.

### 2.3.3.1 HPV genome structure

Papillomaviruses are icosahedral DNA viruses that have a diameter of 52–55 nm; the viral particles consist of single double-stranded DNA containing approximately 8000 base-pairs

(bp)<sup>67</sup>. This DNA is associated with cellular histones and enclosed within a protein capsid made up of 72 pentameric capsomers<sup>67</sup>. All HPV subtypes comprises eight open reading frames (ORFs) divided into three regions: 1) The early (E) region, which is responsible for encoding proteins (E1–E8) essential for viral replication; 2) The late (L) region, which encodes the structural proteins (L1–L2) required for the assembly of viral particles (virions); 3) A predominantly non-coding section known as the long control region (LCR), essential for transcription and replication of viral DNA<sup>67</sup> (**Figure 4**). Within the capsid, there are two structural proteins, namely late (L1), making up 80% of the total viral protein, and L2; these proteins are encoded by the virus itself<sup>67</sup>. The expression of L1, either on its own or in conjunction with L2 lead to the production of virus-like particles (VLPs)<sup>67</sup> (**Figure 4**). The roles of the HPV proteins are summarized in the Table 2.



**Figure 4: HPV genome organization structure.** This is an illustration of HPV genome encoding eight oncogenes (E1, E2, E4, E5, E6, E7, L1 and L2). E6 and E7 are the main oncoproteins involved in the host cell cycle. The remaining 'early' genes, such as E1, E2, E4, and E5, encode other proteins involved with the viral DNA replication. The two 'late' genes, L1 and L2, are responsible for encoding proteins for viral capsid formation. Figure created

using biorender. *Abbreviations:* HPV = human papilloma virus; LCR = long control region; p53 = tumor protein p53; pRB = retinoblastoma protein; L = late; E = early. Adapted from<sup>75</sup>.

**Table 2:** Description of the HPV proteins and their functions involving early region (E1-E8) and late region (L1 and L2).

Protein	Function
Early Region	
E1	Initiating DNA replication and transcription
<i>E2</i>	Regulates Viral Transcription and DNA replication by controlling ORFs
	E6 to E7
E3	Unknown
<i>E4</i>	Interacts with cytoskeleton proteins by altering the extracellular matrix cell
<i>E5</i>	Interacts with cellular proteins and downregulates major histocompatibility
LJ	complex class 1 molecules.
E6	Degrades p53 oncoproteins
E7	Binds to the Rb oncoprotein
E8	Unknown
Late Region	
L1	Major viral capsid structural protein
L2	Minor viral capsid structural protein

*Abbreviations*: DNA = deoxyribonucleic acid; E = early; L = late; ORFs = open reading frames; p53 = tumor protein 53; Rb = retinoblastoma protein. Adapted from<sup>76</sup>.

## 2.3.3.2 HPV carcinogenesis

HPV infection has been associated with several cancers, including cervical, vulvar, vaginal, anal, penile, and HNCs, more specifically oropharyngeal cancer (OPC)<sup>77</sup>. Traditionally, OPC was attributed to alcohol or tobacco use<sup>78</sup>. However, Gillison *et al.*, (2000) showed the association between HPV infection and OPC<sup>79</sup>.

For HPV to cause infection, the viral particles need to gain access to the keratinocytes located in the basal layer of stratified squamous epithelium<sup>80</sup>. This basal layer is adhered to the epithelia basement membrane, so for virions to reach the deeper layers of the epithelium, there must be a passage to enter through<sup>81</sup>. This passage requires destruction of epithelium that can be in the form of micro-abrasions that occur during direct physical or sexual contact<sup>82</sup>.

The majority of OPSCCs associated with HPV tend to develop in the palatine and lingual tonsils, indicating a connection with the specialized histological composition of tonsil tissue<sup>10</sup>. The tonsil tissue is known to have reticulated epithelium that lines the crypts; disruption of the epithelial layer can lead to viral deposition in the absence of mucosal trauma<sup>10</sup>. HPV viral integration is increased when there is persistent infection<sup>83</sup> essential mechanism for OPSCC carcinogenesis<sup>84</sup>.

Biological processes altered by HPV ranged from its most known targets, p53 and pRb inhibition dependent pathways, to signaling pathways such as EGFR and MAPKs<sup>85,86</sup>. HPV can also modify energy and cellular metabolism by targeting Akt, mTOR, and autophagy<sup>86</sup>. DNA damage is promoted by HPV to obtain an efficient viral replication<sup>87</sup>. So, critical pathways are implicated in HPV-related cancers include: 1) p53 and pRb pathways (regulating cell cycling), 2) PI3K–PTEN–AKT pathway (avoiding apoptosis); 2) EGFR pathway (facilitating growth factor signaling); 3) TGF $\beta$  pathway (mediating growth factor signaling); and 4) angiogenesis, inclusive of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)<sup>85</sup>. The outcome of HPV involvement in these pathways is related with genomic instability which ends into complete cellular transformation<sup>88</sup>. Understanding how HPV oncoproteins modify these biological processes may provide novel insights into the basic mechanisms of oncogenesis.

Parameter	HPV- Positive	HPV- Negative OPSCC	
	OPSCC		
Anatomical Site	Tonsils/ Base of the	All sites (Floor of mouth, lateral and ventral	
	tongue	surface of the tongue)	
	(Oropharynx)		
Histology	Non-keratinzed/	Keratinized SCC	
	Basaloid SCC		
Gender	4-5-fold more	2-3-fold more common in men	
	common in men		
Age	Younger	Older	
Race	Whites	Blacks	
Smoking Consumption	50%-65% Smoking	More than 90% Smoking History	
	History	Risk increases with increasing tobacco use	
<b>Alcohol Consumption</b>	Not Significant	Synergistic with tobacco in increasing risk	
Sexual History	Strong association to	to Not Significant	
	the number of oral		
	sex partners		
Socioeconomic Status	Higher	Lower	
Incidence	Increasing	Decreasing	
Prognosis	Good	Poor	
Survival	Improved	Worse/Unchanging	
Staging	Stage 3-4	All stages (T1-4)	
Distant Metastasis	Unusual sites: Brain,	Lung	
	skin		

Table 3: Different characteristics of HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCC.

*Abbreviations*: HPV = human papilloma virus; OPSCC = oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma; SCC = squamous cell carcinoma; T = extent of the tumor. Adapted from<sup>12,89</sup>.

In HPV-positive HNC, there is a site specificity with the viral DNA frequently found in Waldeyer's tonsillar ring<sup>90</sup>. Waldeyer's tonsillar ring consists of adenoid, tubal, lingual and palatine tonsils<sup>90</sup> (**Figure 7**). This ring is characterized by specialized reticulated squamous epithelium infiltrated with lymphoid tissue<sup>80</sup>. This epithelium is a fenestrated, discontinuous basement membrane, believed to enable immune cells to reach oral antigens<sup>91</sup> and serve as inherent interruptions in epithelial barriers, potentially allowing HPV to reach the basal keratinocytes even without traumatic epithelial disruption<sup>92</sup> (**Figure 8**). These characteristics may explain the HPV location preferentially in the Waldeyer's regions<sup>90</sup>.



**Figure 5: Waldeyer's ring**. Waldeyer's ring consists of non-contiguous mucosal-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) arranged in a circumferential configuration in the nasopharynx and oropharynx which consists of tonsils (pharyngeal, tubal, palatine and lingual), adenoids and lymphoid tissue. The ring contains lymphocytes immune cells helping in protecting the body against infections. Figure created using biorender. Adapted from<sup>93</sup>

HPV reaches the basal membrane, L1 binds to heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG), and the capsid conformation will change<sup>80</sup>. These conformational changes allow the virus particles bind to the cell receptor and be internalized<sup>80,94,95</sup>.

Basal epithelial cells are the first cells which get infected by HPV and infection undergoes complex stages which involves viral genome replication, gene expression and assembly of new viral particles<sup>67</sup>. Early viral proteins (E6 and E7) interfere with host cell regulatory mechanisms facilitating cell proliferation and preventing apoptosis, helping in establishing persistent infection within the host epithelial cells<sup>71</sup>. Interactions between E6/E7 proteins and p53 and pRb respectively contribute to dysregulation of key cellular processes, resulting in transformation of infected cells and development of HPV-positive cancers<sup>71</sup>.



**Figure 6: Epithelium of tonsils.** Differences between the epithelial lining on the tonsil crypt surface (stratified squamous non-keratinized) and within the crypt (stratified reticulated). The boxed area highlights keratinocytes characteristic of the crypt reticulated epithelium, featuring long processes connecting with adjacent cells through desmosomes. The intercellular spaces are occupied by infiltrating lymphocytes. *Abbreviations:* HPV = human papilloma virus. Adapted from<sup>96</sup>

### 2.3.3.3 HPV-positive OPSCC inflammation mechanism

The connection between cancer and inflammation dates back almost 150 years when Rudolf Virchow observed a significant infiltration of leukocytes in tumor tissues<sup>97</sup>. Inflammation is linked to approximately 15%-20% of all human solid tumors<sup>98</sup>. However, there is a gap in understand the impact of inflammation on HPV tumor initiation and progression<sup>98,99</sup>. Liu *et al.*, examined the morphology of neutrophils and lymphocytes using large number of specimens involving OPC, normal oral mucosa, dysplasia, and carcinoma *in situ*<sup>99</sup>. The results indicated that samples from dysplasia, carcinoma *in situ*, and cancer were associated with higher inflammation<sup>99</sup>. The inflammatory process involves a complex cell-cell interactions and a cascade of events, including the participation of cytokines, chemokines, and the cells producing them, which collectively activate and regulate the inflammatory response<sup>100-104</sup>. HPV DNA analysis showed higher positivity of HPV16 in samples with chronic inflammation compared to mild and moderate inflammatory infiltration (P = 0.0009)<sup>99</sup> This suggests that inflammation might play a role in progression of HPV<sup>99</sup> and combination of HPV infection with inflammation could serve as a valuable marker for tumor prognosis<sup>99</sup>.

#### 2.4 Other risk factors

Other risk factors can be associated with HNC development. For instance, dietary factors, including inadequate nutrition and low folate intake showed to be a risk factor for HNC<sup>12</sup>. Reduced odds of HNC likelihood were observed in association with increased lean protein, vegetables, and fruits consumption (OR:0.53, 95CI: 0.39, 0.71)<sup>105</sup>. There was a positive association between laryngeal cancer and having sweets, processed and high-fat meats and fried foods (OR:2.12, 95%CI: 1.21, 3.72)<sup>105</sup>. In addition, poor oral hygiene occupational exposures to substances such as wood dust and asbestos, the infection with Epstein-Barr virus, Plummer-Vinson and Li Fraumeni syndrome, Fanconi anemia, dyskeratosis congenita, and sun exposure<sup>12</sup>.

#### 2.5 HNC treatment and prognosis

The prognosis in HNC is significantly influenced by the HPV status<sup>106-108</sup>. Treatment decisions are determined by the clinical and pathological stage of the cancer, encompassing surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, or a combination of these modalities<sup>109,110</sup>. Diagnosis of tumors in the head and neck region often occurs at advanced stages, leading to the standard use of chemotherapy in conjunction with radiotherapy<sup>111</sup>. However, this treatment approach is associated with considerable toxicity and severe side effect<sup>112-114</sup>. Currently, despite recent advancements in therapeutic discovery, patients with HNC continue to exhibit one of the lowest survival rates among cancer patients<sup>115,116</sup>. However, HPV-positive OPC is more sensitive to chemotherapy and radiotherapy compared with HPV negative HNC. Ang *et al.* reported a 3-year overall survival (OS) rate of 82.4% for HPV-positive OPC compared to lower OS rate of 57.1% for classical OPC<sup>114</sup>.

The next chapter of the thesis presents the manuscript that directly aligns with the research objective of the master's study, focusing genetic alterations linked to the inflammatory response in HPV-positive OPC.

# **3 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES**

The main goal of this thesis is to understand the molecular characteristics of HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPC, by examining the current databases on the genetic alterations of both.

To achieve this, the thesis aims to:

- 1- Analyse the databases of genetic mutations in HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCC by conducting an extensive literature review. This will enable identification of the role that genetic mutations play in the biological pathways that are involved in HPV-OPC carcinogenesis.
- 2- Validate the identified set of genes mutated using TCGA platform as a form of secondary analysis. Also, the identified biological pathways were validated using enriched gene pathway analysis and samples of HPV-OPC.

*Manuscript I* entitled "Genetic Mutations Associated with Inflammatory Response Caused by HPV Integration in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma" addresses the first aim of this thesis by systematically reviewing the published papers on HPV-OPC genetic mutations. The specific objective of this manuscript is to identify the common genetic mutations in HPV-positive OPC which was clearly shown as the main result of this review (Manuscript 1) elucidated in the most common ten mutated genes (*TP53, PIK3CA, PTEN, NOTCH1, RB1, FAT1, FBXW7, HRAS, KRAS,* and *CDKN2A*).

## **4 MANUSCRIPT**

## Genetic Mutations Associated with Inflammatory Response Caused by HPV Integration in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma

Mai Atique 1,2, Isis Muniz 1,2,3, Fatemeh Farshadi 1,2, Michael Hier 1, Alex Mlynarek 1, Marco Macarella 1,

Mariana Maschietto 4,5, Belinda Nicolau 3, Moulay A. Alaoui-Jamali 2 and Sabrina Daniela da Silva 1,2,\*

1 Department of Otolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery, McGill University,

Montreal, QC H3T 1E2, Canada; mai.atique@mail.mcgill.ca (M.A.); isisamuniz@gmail.com (I.M.); fatemeh.farshadi@mail.mcgill.ca (F.F.); michael.hier@mcgill.ca (M.H.); alex.mlynarek@mcgill.ca (A.M.); marco.mascarella@mcgill.ca (M.M.)

2 Segal Cancer Centre and Lady Davis Institute for Medical Research, Departments of Medicine and Oncology, Sir Mortimer B. Davis-Jewish General Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University,

Montreal, QC H3T 1E2, Canada; moulay.alaoui-jamali@mcgill.ca

3 Graduate Program in Dentistry, Health Sciences Center, Federal University of Paraiba, Campus I,

João Pessoa 58051-900, PB, Brazil; belinda.nicolau@mcgill.ca

4 Department of Structural and Functional Biology, Institute of Biology, Universidade Estadual de

Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas 13084-225, SP, Brazil; marianamasc@gmail.com

5 Boldrini Children's Center, Campinas 13084-225, SP, Brazil

\* Correspondence: <u>sabrina.wurzba@mcgill.ca</u>

This manuscript was published on 21 December 2023 by the Journal of Biomedicines as:

Atique, M.; Muniz, I.; Farshadi, F.; Hier, M.; Mlynarek, A.; Macarella, M.; Maschietto, M.; Nicolau, B.; Alaoui-Jamali, M.A.; da Silva, S.D. Genetic Mutations Associated with Inflammatory Response Caused by HPV Integration in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Biomedicines 2024, 12, 24. Available at <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines12010024">https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines12010024</a>. Abstract word count: 254 words. Text word count: 8518 words.

Abstract: (1) Background: Head and neck cancer (HNC) ranks as the sixth most prevalent cancer in the world. In addition to the traditional risk factors such as alcohol and tobacco consumption, the implication of the human papillomavirus (HPV) is becoming increasingly significant, particularly in oropharyngeal cancer (OPC). (2) Methods: This study is based on a review analysis of different articles and repositories investigating the mutation profile of HPV-related OPC and its impact on patient outcomes. (3) Results: By compiling data from 38 datasets involving 8311 patients from 12 countries, we identified 330 genes that were further analyzed. These genes were enriched for regulation of the inflammatory response (RB1, JAK2, FANCA, CYLD, SYK, ABCC1, SYK, BCL6, CEBPA, SRC, BAP1, FOXP1, FGR, BCR, LRRK2, RICTOR, IGF1, and ATM), among other biological processes. Hierarchical cluster analysis showed the most relevant biological processes were linked with the regulation of mast cell cytokine production, neutrophil activation and degranulation, and leukocyte activation (FDR < 0.001; *p*-value < 0.05), suggesting that neutrophils may be involved in the development and progression of HPV-related OPC. (4) Conclusions: The neutrophil infiltration and HPV status emerge as a potential prognostic factor for OPC. HPV-infected HNC cells could potentially lead to a decrease in neutrophil infiltration. By gaining a better molecular understanding of HPV-mediated neutrophil immunosuppression activity, it is possible to identify a meaningful target to boost antitumor immune response in HNC and hence to improve the survival of patients with HNC.

**Keywords:** head and neck cancer; oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas; human papillomavirus; mutational profile; prognosis

#### **1** Introduction

Head and neck cancer (HNC) is the sixth most prevalent cancer worldwide repre- senting more than 660,000 new cases and 325,000 deaths per year [1]. Risk factors driving the HNC landscape include alcohol, tobacco consumption, and infection with the human papillomavirus (HPV). HPV infection is emerging as a primary catalyst for a growing proportion of cancers of the tonsillar region, the base of the tongue, the soft palate, and the oropharynx, including oropharyngeal cancer (OPC) [2,3]. The diverse array of HPV types includes over 200 distinct serotypes, with HPV16 and HPV18 being the most prevalent oncogenic viral subtypes linked to OPC [4,5]. After initial infection, HPV can persist within host cell nuclei as an extrachromosomal episome, but can subsequently integrate into the host genome [6-8]. However, reported rates of HPV integration into the genome vary across studies. Data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) indicate that HPV integrates in approximately 71% of virus-positive HNC cases and 83% of cervical cancer cases [8].

Beyond persistence and integration, HPV can profoundly influence tumor cell behavior, leading to distinct clinical outcomes in comparison to smoking-related counterparts [9,10]. This divergence is mirrored in the molecular mechanisms underpinning oncogenesis and specific mutations found in HPV-positive versus HPV-negative tumors [11,12]. Remarkably, HPV-related OPC as well as in anal and vulvar cancer represents a distinct molecular entity compared to its HPV-negative counterpart, demonstrating more favorable treatment responses and higher survival rates [13–15].

In 2017, the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and the Union for Interna- tional Cancer Control (UICC) restructured the clinical staging system for patients. This effort involved the revision of the staging framework to incorporate genetic, histological, and prognostic variants, enabling the differentiation of prognostic disparities observed in HPV-related OPC [16–18]. It is observed that HPV-positive HNCs have fewer mutated genes compared to HPV-negative tumors, which tend to accumulate a higher number of mutations over time, leading to an increased mutational burden [12,19,20]. This article aims to provide a comprehensive evaluation of studies delving into the genetic profile of mutations in HPV-related OPC cases, alongside HPV-negative cases. Moreover, through the application of enrichment analysis and multiple validations using independent public datasets, the study aims to establish meaningful correlations between the identified genetic alterations, pathways linked to tumorigenesis, and the identified ge- netic alterations, pathways
disruptions relevant to tumorigenesis, and the multidisciplinary management of OPC in the context of the HPV status.

#### 2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Study Selection

The comprehensive search strategy was done using the following databases: Medline, PubMed, Web of Science, and Scopus with the assistance of a librarian (up to 1 October 2023). The following Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) or "text words" were: HPV, human papillomavirus, papillomavirus, head and neck cancer, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma, pharyngeal cancer, survival, outcome, prognosis, prognostic, prognostic biomarkers, mutation, gene mutation, DNA mutation, DNA damage, and metastasis. Searches were performed in May 2023, with no restriction on the year of publication (Supplementary Table S1).

#### 2.2 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion criteria comprised articles in English that performed genetic analyses and comparisons between populations of HPV-related cases and HPV-negative OPC. Exclusion criteria were studies unrelated to HNC, animal and preclinical (in vitro) models, unrelated to risk factors such as alcohol, tobacco, HPV 16–18, epigenetics, clinical trials, pediatric population, gene methylation, gene expression, copy number variation, another disease (not in cancer), another cancer type (not HNC), full text not available, reviews of the literature, case reports, conference abstracts, and letters to the editor.

#### 2.3 Data Collection

Studies selected from the databases were imported into Rayyan software (https:// rayyan.ai/terms) [21] for the identification and removal of duplicates and reading of titles and abstracts by three authors (MA, IM, and FF). The full text was retrieved for those studies where decisions could not be made based on the abstract and for those who presented the eligibility criteria. Data extraction from the studies included in this scoping review was summarized in a Microsoft Excel table (Microsoft 365). The following information was collected: authors, year of publication, impact factor, country, sample size, study type, molecular technique used, HPV status, and genes mutated. To identify mutated genes, genomic information was extracted directly from the reported data in each original article.

#### 2.4 Technical Validation in Public Database

This research analyzed the mutation profile of OPC considering the HPV status. The TCGA public database was used to technically confirm the genetic mutations and the clinicopathological impact using the Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma database (TCGA, Firehose Legacy). Detailed descriptions of all other cohorts have been provided elsewhere [22–59] (Table 1). From the TCGA cohort, 115 samples were characterized as positive for HPV16 status, 74 being negative and 41 being positive. The data from this cohort were used to assess the influence of the genes on both overall survival and disease-free survival. The enriched analysis was done using multiple software including g:Profiler (https://biit.cs.ut.ee/gprofiler/, accessed on 1 August 2023), GSEA (http:// software.broadinstitute.org/gsea/, accessed on 1 August 2023), Cytoscape (http://www.cytoscape.org/, accessed on 1 August 2023).

Author, Year	Journal Impact Factor	Country	Sample Size	Study Type	Molecular Techniques *
Harbison et al., 2018 [23]	19.477	USA	84	Cross-sectional	WGS, NGS
Chung et al., 2015 [24]	32.976	USA	252	Multicenter	NGS, ISH, IHC
Doerstling et al., 2023 [25]	4.322	USA	79	Retrospective	IHC, NGS
Dogan et al., 2019 [ <mark>26</mark> ]	7.316	USA	157	Retrospective	Target sequencing
Dubot et al., 2018 [27]	10.002	FRANCE	122	Retrospective	NGS
Gleber-Netto et al., 2018 [28]	6.921	USA	52	Retrospective	NGS, PCR, IHC
Gronhoj et al., 2018 [29]	4.638	DENMARK	114	Retrospective	NGS
Haft et al., 2019 [ <mark>30</mark> ]	6.921	USA	46	Retrospective	NGS
Koncar et al., 2017 [ <mark>3</mark> 1]	4.711	USA	743	Retrospective	IHC, ISH, NG
Labarge et al., 2022 [8]	6.333	USA	12	Retrospective	WGS, OGM
Lim et al., 2019 [ <mark>32</mark> ]	13.312	KOREA	93	Multicenter	NGS
Qin et al., 2018 [33]	4.997	USA	36	Rettrospective	NGS.
Reder et al., 2019 [34]	5.972	GERMANY	24	Retrospective	NGS.
Reder et al., 2021 [35]	4.711	GERMANY	139	Retrospective	NGS.
Saba et al., 2020 [ <mark>36</mark> ]	3.240	USA	35	Retrospective	NGS
Wahle et al., 2022 [37]	5.08	USA	47	Retrospective	WGS, ISH, IHC
Stransky et al., 2011 [38]	63.832	USA	92	Retrospective	WGS
Williams et al., 2021 [39]	8.209	USA	703	Retrospective	NGS
Antonsson et al., 2016 [40]	2.532	AUSTRALIA	219	Case-control	NGS
Barten et al., 1995 [41]	4.548	GERMANY	37	Retrospective	PCR, IHC
Benzerdjeb et al., 2021 [42]	7.778	FRANCE	110	Cross-sectional	PCR, NGS
Chen et al., 2021 [43]	13.312	USA	489	Retrospective	ELISA
Chiosea et al., 2013 [44]	4.638	USA	75	Retrospective	NGS
Ekalaksananan et al., 2020 [45]	2.874	THAILAND	106	Case-control	PCR
Fallai et al., 2009 [46]	8.013	ITALY	78	Prospective	NGS, PCR
Farnebo et al., 2015 [47]	4.354	SWEDAN	169	Case-control	PCR-RFLP.
Hong et al., 2016 [48]	6.901	AUSTRALIA	202	Retrospective	Pyrosequencing
Cortelazzi et al., 2015 [49]	3.539	ITALY	76	Cross-sectional	PCR
De Carvalho et al., 2019 [50]	2.874	BRAZIL	25	Retrospective	PCR, WGS
Friedland et al., 2012 [51]	2.025	AUSTRALIA	60	Retrospective	PCR
Ghosh et al., 2013 [52]	2.435	INDIA	84	Prospective	NGS
Gross et al., 2014 [53]	41.376	USA	376	Prospective	PCR
Huang et al., 2019 [54]	11.205	USA	113	Retrospective	ISH, IHC, WGS
Licitra et al., 2006 [55]	50.739	ITALY	100	Retrospective	NGS, PCR, IHC

	Table 1. Co	ont.			
Author, Year	Journal Impact Factor	Country	Sample Size	Study Type	Molecular Techniques *
Mazurek et al., 2016 [56]	5.972	POLAND	200	Case-control	PCR
Saba et al., 2015 [57]	2.031	USA	8	Proof of concept	NGS
Sewell et al., 2014 [58]	13.801	USA	49	Prospective	RPPA
Shaikh et al., 2021 [59]	6.575	USA	2905	Retrospective	WGS, NGS, IHC

\* WGS (whole-genome sequencing); NGS (next-generation sequencing); ISH (in situ hybridization); IHC (immunohistochemistry); RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism; PCR (polymerase chain reaction); OGM (optical genome mapping); RPPA (reverse-phase protein array).

## 2.5 Experimental Validation in Patients' Samples

Ethics and Patient Cohort

This study was approved by the Medical/Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (REC) of CIUSSS West-Central Montreal Research Ethics Board (REB, Montreal, QC, Canada) and informed consent was obtained from each patient.

Primary tumor samples were retrospectively collected from patients with OPC at the Jewish General Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada between 2010 and 2013 (with at least 10 years of follow-up). Patient demographics and survival out- comes were collected. HPV status was confirmed via p16 immunohistochemistry (IHC) as well as polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Detailed clinical information is provided in Supplementary Table S2. Disease-free survival was defined as the time from diagnosis to recurrence at any site or death. Recurrence was defined as the presence of local, re- gional, or distant disease after completion of treatment confirmed by microscopic exam. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies (STROBE Statement) was used to ensure appropriate methodological quality (http://www.strobe-statement.org/, accessed on 7 November 2023).

## 2.6 Immunohistochemistry

IHC staining was conducted at the Department of Pathology & Molecular Pathology Core Facility (Lady Davis Institute, Montreal, QC, Canada). Human Neutrophil Elastase/ELA2 Monoclonal Antibody (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA, MAB91671R100;1:2000) was used to validate neutrophil infiltration. Tissues were examined using an Ape- rio ScanScope<sup>®</sup> slide scanner (Leica Biosystems, Buffalo Grove, IL, USA) and staining quantification was performed using QuPath (v0.2.3).

## 2.7 Statistical Analysis

All data were presented as mean SEM using the software GraphPad Prism 7.0 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). For statistical analysis, samples were categorized into two groups: (1) negative/weak and (2) moderate/strong positive cases. For frequency analysis in contingency tables, statistical analyses of associations between variables were performed by Fisher's exact test, and for continuous variables, the non- parametric Mann–Whitney U test. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

## **3** Results

3.1 Overview of the Included Studies

Following the search protocol and screening strategy, 1556 manuscripts were identified. A total of 872 studies were published in English and 32 in different languages (includingGerman, Chinese, Spanish, Hungarian, Russian, French, English, Japanese, and Czech). After the exclusion of 651 duplicate studies, the two reviewers also excluded 863 ineligible articles based on the title and abstract and an additional 41 articles based on the full-text assessment. Thus, 38 articles were included in the qualitative synthesis. The PRISMA flow diagram illustrates the search strategy and the number of studies found and retrieved (Figure 1).



**Figure 1.** PRISMA flowchart highlighting the search strategy used to retrieve studies from the databases (Medline, PubMed, Web of Science, and Scopus). It identified 1556 articles and following the inclusion criteria, 38 articles were selected and included in this study. \* Considered the number of records identified from each database or register searched. \*\* Number of records excluded by a human and automation tools [22].

The 38 studies included in this research were published between 1995 and 2023 and they involved 8311 HNC patients from 12 countries [23–59] (Table 1). Most studies were based on the retrospective cohort (n = 24). The most common country to lead the studies in mutational profile in HNC was the USA (n = 20/38). Two out of thirty-eight articles have included the list of gene mutations in both HPV-positive and negative cases. This study mainly focuses on retrieving data from HPV-positive patients to understand the alterations in cell pathways. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) (n = 10), PCR (n = 9), and p16 IHC staining (n = 8) were the most commonly used techniques, followed by other sequencing techniques such as whole-genome sequencing (WGS) (n = 5) and in situ hybridization (n = 3). In total, 330 genes were identified (Supplementary Table S1) and submitted to enriched analysis. As expected, *TP53* (n = 22) and *PIK3CA* (n = 20) genes were the most commonly mutated genes in HPV-related OPC cases.

## 3.2 Technical Validation—Common Gene Mutations in HPV-Positive HNC

In HPV-positive HNC, several genes were identified (Supplementary Table S1) and also confirmed as commonly mutated in the technical validation using the Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma database (TCGA, Firehose Legacy) (Figure 2). The data from this cohort were also used to assess the influence of the genes on both overall survival and disease-free survival (Figure 2B). The specific mutation landscape may vary to some extent depending on the tumor location and the HPV viral subtype (typically HPV16). However, the 10 most common mutated genes were *TP53* (n = 22), *PIK3CA* (n = 20), *PTEN* (n = 16), *NOTCH1* (n = 14), *RB1* (n = 13), *FAT1* (n = 13), *FBXW7* (n = 12), *HRAS* (n = 10), *KRAS* (n = 10), and *CDKN2A* (n = 10) (Figure 2A). Supplementary Figure S1 shows the identified genes in the 38 articles screened; different color codes were used to represent which genes were described from which article. It is important to consider that the most frequently mutated genes, such as *TP53*, *PIK3CA*, *CDKN2A*, *FAT1*, *CASP8*, and *HRAS*, can impact several pathways and biological processes, such as cell cycle, DNA damage response,

*PI3K/AKT/mTOR* signaling pathway, Notch signaling pathway, and *RAS/MAPK* signaling pathway.



**Figure 2.** Comparison of mutation frequencies and gene expression profiles in HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPC. (**A**) In an analysis of all the investigated studies, HPV-positive OPC exhibited fewer mutations compared to HPV-negative tumors. The top bar graph illustrates the most prevalent mutated genes in HPV-related OPC, including *PIK3CA*, *TP53*, *PTEN*,

*NOTCH1*, *FAT1*, *RB1*, *FBXW7*, *HRAS*, *KRAS*, and *CDKN2A*. Using public data from the TCGA database, mRNA expression levels of *TP53* and *CDKN2A* exhibited significant differences between the two groups, highlighting their dis- tinct gene expression profiles in HPV-positive versus HPV-negative cases. (**B**) Significant differences were observed between HPV-positive and HPV-negative tumors in terms of overall survival and disease-free survival considering both genes using the Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma database (TCGA, Firehose Legacy). Among the 115 samples examined, 74 were identified as negative for HPV status, while 41 were confirmed as positive. Notably, HPV-positive cases exhibited enhanced overall survival rates compared with HPV-negative tumors.

#### 3.3 Enriched Analysis of Mutated Genes

The list of all mutated genes was submitted to an enriched analysis. Gene ontology (GO) revealed 18 genes involved in the regulation of the inflammatory response *(RB1, JAK2, FANCA, CYLD, SYK, ABCC1, SYK, BCL6, CEBPA, SRC, BAP1, FOXP1, FGR, BCR, LRRK2, RICTOR, IGF1*, and *ATM*) (Figure 3). Hierarchical analysis revealed the biological processes most relevant were linked with the regulation of leukocyte migration, mast cell cytokine production, neutrophil degranulation, and leukocyte activation (FDR < 0.001; *p*-value < 0.05) (Figure 3C).

In order to provide experimental validation for the results from the enriched analysis that showed alteration in neutrophil activation and degranulation (Figure 3C), we selected a cohort of HNC patients to confirm the status of neutrophil expression (Supplementary Table S2). For the independent sample set, 52 paraffin embedded HNC tissue specimens from 12 patients who had lung metastasis (metastatic cases) and 40 patients who had negative lymph node status without recurrence or metastatic disease (good outcomes; non-metastatic cases) and were followed for at least 157 months were evaluated using IHC assays in a TMA. Most of the patients were male (59.6%), and the majority were aged over 50 years (84.6%) (Supplementary Table S2). First, before the antibody selection, we performed an additional analysis using the UMAP (Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection) plot to provide an illustrative representation of gene clusters formed through the application of Louvain clustering on gene expression profiles across different immune cell types (Figure 4A). The table below the UMAP provides annotations and gene counts that connect to the core function of a neutrophil elastase (ELA2), also known as

polymorphonuclear leukocyte elastase, which is a serine protease belonging to the chymotrypsin family. This shows us the specificity of ELA2 for the neutrophil activity.

Immunohistochemistry staining was done in our patients' cohort (treated in a single institution) and it revealed elevated nuclear overexpression of ELA2 protein in metastatic HPV-related OPC. In contrast, weak to moderate expression was observed in non-metastatic tumors, and negative expression was detected in morphologically normal epithelial cells (Figure <u>4</u>B). However, no statistically significant *p*-values were observed in the associations involving age (p = 0.599), sex (p = 0.500), tobacco consumption (p = 0.087), alcohol abuse (p = 0.985), lymph node stage (p = 0.158), locoregional recurrence (p = 0.275), and vital status (p = 0.500), but were for clinically advanced T stage (p = 0.023) (Supplementary Table S1).







**Figure 4.** (**A**) The UMAP (Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection) plot illustrates cell clusters created through Louvain clustering of ELA2 gene expression in various immune cell types. The table provides cellular annotations associated with the primary function of ELA2 identified and validated in our study. (**B**) Immunohistochemistry images for ELA2 protein in oral cancer and morphologically normal epithelial. A weak staining was observed in morphologically normal epithelial cells while a strong intensity of nuclear immunostaining was

detected in oral cancer samples, especially in the recurrent tumors. Graphs represent the ELA2 immunohistochemistry level (intensity) in normal, tumor, and metastatic lymph nodes. Original magnification:  $50 \times (top)$  and  $200 \times (bottom)$ .

## **4** Discussion

The exponential increase of HPV-related OPC over the last two decades has gained attention. This subset of OPC is characterized by a distinct genomic mutational burden compared to its HPV-negative counterparts [2,60] (Figure 5). In this context, an in-depth exploration was conducted to delineate the mutation profile of HPV-related OPC patients, drawing from a comprehensive literature review spanning from 1995 to 2023 [23–59]. The genetic landscape showcased six prominent genes (*TP53, NOTCH1, CDKN2A, PIK3CA, HRAS*, and *PTEN*) exhibiting frequent mutations. These genes encode pivotal signaling molecules that underlie the pathogenesis of HNC [61]. Notably, *TP53* and *PIK3CA* emerged as pivotal players, with *TP53* being the most recurrently mutated gene in locally advanced HNC [61,62], and *PIK3CA* ranked as the most frequently mutated oncogene across human cancers [63].



**Figure 5.** Squamous cell carcinoma comprises over 95% of head and neck cancers. Major risk factors include tobacco and alcohol. HPV is involved in 71% of oropharyngeal cancers. Specific key genetic mutations were associated with HPV-positive oropharyngeal cancer

(*PIK3CA*, *RB1*, *FBXW7*, *PTEN*, *NOTCH1*, *HRAS*, *KRAS*, *TP53*, *CDKN2A*, *FAT1*). The intricate interplay between human papillomavirus (HPV) and mutations within the tumor microenvironment (TME) is complex. HPV infection can initiate a particular immune response, but tumors can also evolve and develop mechanisms to modify and escape the immune detection. A comprehensive understanding of these interactions is crucial for developing effective therapeutic strategies for HPV-associated tumors, including head and neck cancers. Figure created using BioRender.

The TP53 gene encodes the tumor protein p53, functioning as a critical tumor suppressor that regulates cell division and reduces uncontrolled proliferation [64,65]. Intriguingly, TP53 mutations in HPV-positive HNC have been linked to treatment resistance and poorer clinical outcomes. Meanwhile, mutations in the PIK3CA gene, responsible for encoding the PI3K catalytic subunit alpha (p110a), activate the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway. This subset of PIK3CA mutations observed in HPV-positive HNC plays a pivotal role in tumorigenesis, potentially contributing to increased cell proliferation, tumor growth, and survival [66–68]. The dysregulation of these pathways collectively orchestrates the development and progression of HPV-positive HNC. In patients with HPV-negative HNC samples, it is commonly noted that there is a higher mutation load in comparison with HPV-positive tumors. Our working hypothesis is that the absence of the virus particles requires the acquisition of a larger set of mutated genes to facilitate cellular transformation. In contrast, within HPV-positive samples, the presence of the viral genome regulates the expression of specific genes that modify the cells toward malignancy. These genes are likely associated with cell-cycle regulation. However, a more comprehensive understanding of the functional repercussions of these mutations and their implications for targeted therapies and patient outcomes remains imperative.

Gene-enriched pathway analysis unveiled the predominant involvement of the inflammatory response in HPV-related OPC. Notably, 18 genes (*RB1*, *JAK2*, *FANCA*, *CYLD*, *SYK*, *ABCC1*, *SYK*, *BCL6*, *CEBPA*, *SRC*, *BAP1*, *FOXP1*, *FGR*, *BCR*, *LRRK2*, *RICTOR*, *IGF1*, and *ATM*) were intricately linked to the activation of neutrophils. The intricate interplay between the tumor microenvironment and immune cell subsets has emerged as the focal point of investigation in HNC research [69]. The presence of HPV infection often triggers a robust immune response, fostering chronic inflammation within the tumor microenvironment [70]. Remarkably, HPV-positive tumors display heightened immune cell infiltration compared to HPV-negative HNC. These infiltrating immune cells include various subsets of T cells (e.g., CD8+ cytotoxic T cells,

CD4+ helper T cells), natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells [71]. The neutrophils, which represent a pivotal component of the immune response, are intricately recruited to the tumor site through a complex interplay between tumor-derived chemokines and adhesion molecules, such as CXCL8/IL-8 and E-selectin [72–74]. Once they are established within the tumor microenvironment, neutrophils can polarize and assume distinct functional phenotypes, oscillating between a pro-inflammatory N1 phenotype and an immunosuppressive N2 phenotype [75,76]. This versatile plasticity is modulated by an interplay of chemokines, cy-tokines, and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) emanating from both tumor cells and the surrounding inflammatory milieu [72]. The interactions between neutrophils and other immune cell subsets, including T cells, dendritic cells, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), sculpt the intricate landscape of the local immune response [77].

The relevance of neutrophils extends further, with a high-circulating neutrophil-to- lymphocyte ratio (NLR) emerging as a common feature in numerous cancer types, including HNC [78–80]. Interestingly, elevated neutrophils have been associated with chemotherapy and immunotherapy resistance in HPV-positive cancers. Neutrophil-derived factors, encompassing reactive oxygen species (ROS), cytokines, and extracellular traps (NETs), can exert a dual influence, promoting tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis, while also suppressing adaptive immune responses. Moreover, neutrophils can influence the infiltration and functionality of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), thereby intricately modulating the overall antitumor immune response.

In HPV-positive cancers, the presence of NETs within the tumor microenvironment has gained attention, owing to their potential to foster tumor progression by inducing angio- genesis and evading the immune response [81,82]. The dynamic role of neutrophils, driven by their phenotype heterogeneity and functional plasticity [81,83,84], positions them as critical regulators of both pro-inflammatory and anti-immune responses [81]. Their context- dependent antitumor or pro-tumor activity depends on the molecular stimulus within the tumor microenvironment [81,83], where a delicate balance controls the equilibrium between these phenotypes [69]. In the specific context of HPV-related OPC, a high NLR has been associated with ad- vanced clinical stages and poorer survival rates [81,83,85–87]. Paradoxically, HPV infection could potentially suppress the recruitment of tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) to HPV- related OPC [88]. The influence of TANs in promoting cancer progression stems from their ability to induce angiogenesis, release ROS, and generate reactive nitrogen species (RNS),

thereby inducing genotoxic effects upon tumor cells [83,87,89]. Furthermore, TANs secrete cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-12) that foster a chronic inflammatory milieu, along-side arginase 1, which inhibits CD8 T cell function, contributing to an immunosuppressive environment [90]. Unraveling the intricate interactions between tumor cells, neutrophils, and the surrounding milieu represents an imperative avenue for research, promising the development of innovative strategies to impede cancer progression and metastasis.

Conversely, it is known that the most effective antitumor mechanism involving neutrophils is through antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) [83]. Pro- inflammatory neutrophils can be activated to display a stronger antitumor phenotype through the molecular interaction with the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), transforming growth factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and/or by blocking transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) [83]. These interactions culminate in the activation of a cytotoxic immune response directed against tumor cells [83]. However, the underlying mechanism by which tumor-derived signals reprogram neutrophils to undergo this functional transformation is poorly understood and warrants further investigation. Ultimately, a deeper understanding of the intricate interactions between neutrophils and HPV-related HNC will likely provide novel insights into their role within metastatic pathways, potentially identifying targetable mechanisms that modulate neutrophil phenotype.

#### **5** Conclusions

In summary, the intricate involvement of neutrophils in the development and progression of HPV-related OPC has become increasingly apparent. The infiltration of neutrophils and the underlying HPV status hold significant promise as prognostic parameters for OPC. Notably, the presence of HPV infection within HNC cells may induce a decreasing effect on neutrophil infiltration. The outcomes from this study have paved the way for novel avenues of investigation, focusing on unraveling the intricate crosstalk between cancer cells and the immune infiltrate microenvironment. These dynamic interactions orchestrate changes in the neutrophil population, presenting opportunities to conceive innovative therapeutic strategies. The prospect of personalized immunomodulation emerges as a promising frontier to treat patients with HPV-related HNC. As future research will involve deep investigations of the complexities of these interactions, we are primed to uncover transformative interventions that hold the potential to enhance the prognosis and overall quality of life for individuals battling HPV-related HNC.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/biomedicines12010024/s1, Table S1: Data extraction of the included articles in the scoping review. The 38 articles presented the list of HPV-positive (+) and HPV-negative (-) mutated genes. A total of 2 articles out of the 38 articles screened have included both lists of genes. However, the rest included HPV + mutated genes which this scoping review mainly highlights. A total of 330 genes were identified and submitted to enriched analysis. TP53 (n = 22) and PIK3CA (n = 20) genes were the most mutated genes in HPV-related OPC cases. Table S2: Distribution of the OSCC cases according to demographic, lifestyle, and clinical variables. Figure S1: A list of all genes mutated with highlighting on the most cited genes, which are TP53 (n = 22), PIK3CA (n = 20), PTEN (n = 16), NOTCH1 (n = 16) 14), RB1 (n = 13), FAT1 (n = 13), FBXW7 (n = 12), HRAS (n = 10), KRAS (n = 10), and CDKN2A (n = 10). Different color codes representing the 38 articles screened show which gene was collected from which article. The most frequently mutated gene is TP53 followed by PIK3CA. Genes are for cell survival and proliferation (TP53, HRAS, and PIK3CA), cell-cycle control (CDKN2A), cellular differentiation (NOTCH1), and adhesion and invasion signaling (FAT1), and tumor suppression (FAT1, NOTCH1, and CDKN2A).

Author Contributions: Conception and design: S.D.d.S.; Development of methodology: M.A., I.M. and F.F.; Acquisition of data: M.A., I.M. and F.F.; Analysis and interpretation (e.g., statistical analysis): S.D.d.S. and M.M. (Mariana Maschietto); Writing, review, and/or revision of the manuscript: M.A., I.M., F.F., M.H., B.N., M.A.A.-J., A.M., M.M. (Marco Macarella), M.M. (Mariana Maschietto) and S.D.d.S.; Administrative, technical, or material support: M.H., B.N., M.A.A.-J. and S.D.d.S.; Study supervision: S.D.d.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** This work was supported by FRQ-S/RSBO#35376 (258000 and 258259), DFATD—CBIE- FMPB, NCOHR (New Frontier Seed Grant 2020–2022), CIHR (202109; 2022–2027).

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** This study was approved by the Medical/Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (REC) of CIUSSS West-Central Montreal Research Ethics Board (REB #2011-84, 10-153; February 2023).

Informed Consent Statement: The informed consent was obtained from each patient.

**Data Availability Statement:** The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: We acknowledge the valuable help of Andrea Quaiattini (MA, MLIS) who pro- vided library support for the literature review. This research was made possible thanks to the support of the Arthur Rosenberg Memorial Fellowship Graduate Scholarship Fund. The authors acknowledge all the valuable support from the Head and Neck Foundation (Jewish General Hospital—Faculty of Medicine—McGill University) and the Marvin Carsley Research Fund.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

## References

- Gormley, M.; Creaney, G.; Schache, A.; Ingarfield, K.; Conway, D.I. Reviewing the Epidemiology of Head and Neck Cancer: Definitions, Trends and Risk Factors. *Br. Dent. J.* 2022, 233, 780–786. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Howard, J.D.; Chung, C.H. Biology of Human Papillomavirus–Related Oropharyngeal Cancer. Semin. Radiat. Oncol. 2012, 22, 187–193. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chaturvedi, A.K.; Engels, E.A.; Pfeiffer, R.M.; Hernandez, B.Y.; Xiao, W.; Kim, E.; Jiang, B.; Goodman, M.T.; Sibug-Saber, M.; Cozen, W.; et al. Human Papillomavirus and Rising Oropharyngeal Cancer Incidence in the United States. J. Clin. Oncol. 2011, 29, 4294–4301.
   [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Burd, E.M. Human Papillomavirus and Cervical Cancer. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 2003, 16, 1–17.
   [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ahmed, H.G.; Bensumaidea, S.H.; Alshammari, F.D.; Alenazi, F.; Almutlaq, B.A.; Alturkstani, M.Z.; Aladani, I.A. Prevalence of Human Papillomavirus Subtypes 16 and 18 among Yemeni Patients with Cervical Cancer. *PubMed* 2017, *18*, 1543–1548.
- Morgan, I.M.; DiNardo, L.J.; Windle, B. Integration of Human Papillomavirus Genomes in Head and Neck Cancer: Is It Time to Consider a Paradigm Shift? *Viruses* 2017, 9, 208.
   [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Thierry, F. Transcriptional Regulation of the Papillomavirus Oncogenes by Cellular and Viral Transcription Factors in Cervical Carcinoma. *Virology* 2009, *384*, 375–379. [CrossRef]
- 8. LaBarge, B.; Hennessy, M.; Zhang, L.; Goldrich, D.; Chartrand, S.; Purnell, C.; Wright, S.; Goldenberg, D.; Broach, J.R. Human Papillomavirus Integration Strictly Correlates with

Global Genome Instability in Head and Neck Cancer. *Mol. Cancer Res.* **2022**, *20*, 1420–1428. [CrossRef]

- Sinha, P.; Logan, H.L.; Mendenhall, W.M. Human Papillomavirus, Smoking, and Head and Neck Cancer. Am. J. Otolaryngol. 2012, 33, 130–136. [CrossRef]
- Sabatini, M.E.; Chiocca, S. Human Papillomavirus as a Driver of Head and Neck Cancers. *Br. J. Cancer* 2019, *122*, 306–314. [CrossRef]
- Wang, H.; Wang, B.; Wei, J.; Meng, L.; Zhang, Q.; Qu, C.; Xin, Y.; Jiang, X. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Increased Radiosensitivity in Human Papillomavirus-Associated Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 2020, *16*, 1035–1043. [CrossRef]
- Powell, S.; Vu, L.; Spanos, W.C.; Pyeon, D. The Key Differences between Human Papillomavirus-Positive and -Negative Head and Neck Cancers: Biological and Clinical Implications. *Cancers* 2021, 13, 5206. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lewis, J.S.; Thorstad, W.L.; Chernock, R.D.; Haughey, B.H.; Yip, J.H.; Zhang, Q.; El-Mofty, S.K. P16 Positive Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma:An Entity With a Favorable Prognosis Regardless of Tumor HPV Status. *Am. J. Surg. Pathol.* 2010, *34*, 1088–1096.
   [CrossRef]
- 14. Kobayashi, K.; Hisamatsu, K.; Suzui, N.; Hara, A.; Tomita, H.; Miyazaki, T. A Review of HPV-Related Head and Neck Cancer. J. Clin. Med. 2018, 7, 241. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fakhry, C.; Zhang, Q.; Nguyen-Tân, P.F.; Rosenthal, D.I.; El-Naggar, A.K.; Garden, A.S.; Soulières, D.; Trotti, A.; Avizonis, V.N.; Ridge, J.A.; et al. Human Papillomavirus and Overall Survival after Progression of Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2014, *32*, 3365–3373. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Preti, M.; Bucchi, L.; Micheletti, L. Four-decade trends in lymph node status of patients with vulvar squamous cell carcinoma in northern Italy. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, *11*, 5661. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zanoni, D.K.; Patel, S.G.; Shah, J.P. Changes in the 8th Edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) Staging of Head and Neck Cancer: Rationale and Implications. *Curr. Oncol. Rep.* 2019, 21, 52. [CrossRef]
- Machczynski, P.; Majchrzak, E.; Niewinski, P.; Marchlewska, J.; Golusin'ski, W. A Review of the 8th Edition of the AJCC Staging System for Oropharyngeal Cancer According to HPV Status. *Eur. Arch. Oto-Rhino-Laryngol.* 2020, 277, 2407–2412. [CrossRef]
- 19. Van Gysen, K.; Stevens, M.; Guo, L.; Jayamanne, D.; Veivers, D.; Wignall, A.; Pang, L.; Guminski, A.; Lee, A.V.; Hruby, G.; et al. Validation of the 8th Edition UICC/AJCC TNM

Staging System for HPV Associated Oropharyngeal Cancer Patients Managed with Contemporary Chemo-Radiotherapy. *BMC Cancer* **2019**, *19*, 674. [CrossRef]

- Seiwert, T.Y.; Zuo, Z.; Keck, M.K.; Khattri, A.; Pedamallu, C.S.; Stricker, T.; Brown, C.D.; Pugh, T.J.; Stojanov, P.; Cho, J.; et al. Integrative and Comparative Genomic Analysis of HPV-Positive and HPV-Negative Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2015, *21*, 632–641. [CrossRef]
- Ouzzani, M.; Hammady, H.M.; Fedorowicz, Z.; Elmagarmid, A.K. Rayyan—A Web and Mobile App for Systematic Reviews. *Syst. Rev.* 2016, *5*, 210. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Page, M.J.; McKenzie, J.E.; Bossuyt, P.M.; Boutron, I.; Hoffmann, T.; Mulrow, C.D.; Shamseer, L.; Tetzlaff, J.; Akl, E.A.; Brennan, S.; et al. The PRISMA 2020 Statement: An Updated Guideline for Reporting Systematic Reviews. *BMJ* 2021, *372*, n71. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Harbison, R.A.; Kubik, M.; Konnick, E.Q.; Zhang, Q.; Lee, S.-G.; Park, H.; Zhang, J.; Carlson, C.S.; Chu, C.; Schwartz, S.M.; et al. The Mutational Landscape of Recurrent versus Nonrecurrent Human Papillomavirus–Related Oropharyngeal Cancer. *JCI Insight* 2018, *3*, e99327. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chung, C.H.; Guthrie, V.B.; Masica, D.L.; Tokheim, C.; Kang, H.; Richmon, J.D.; Agrawal, N.; Fakhry, C.; Quon, H.; Subramaniam, R.M.; et al. Genomic Alterations in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Determined by Cancer Gene-Targeted Sequencing. *Ann. Oncol.* 2015, *26*, 1216–1223. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Doerstling, S.S.; Winski, D.; Katsoulakis, E.; Agarwal, P.K.; Poonnen, P.; Snowdon, J.L.; Jackson, G.P.; Weeraratne, D.; Kelley, M.J.; Vashistha, V. Mutational Profiles of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas Based upon Human Papillomavirus Status in the Veterans Affairs National Precision Oncology Program. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 2022, 149, 69–77. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Dog`an, S.; Xu, B.; Middha, S.; Vanderbilt, C.; Bowman, A.S.; Migliacci, J.; Morris, L.G.T.; Seshan, V.; Ganly, I. Identification of Prognostic Molecular Biomarkers in 157 HPV-positive and HPV-negative Squamous Cell Carcinomas of the Oropharynx. *Int. J. Cancer* 2019, *145*, 3152–3162. [CrossRef]
- Dubot, C.; Bernard, V.; Sablin, M.; Vacher, S.; Chemlali, W.; Schnitzler, A.; Pierron, G.; Raïs, K.A.; Bessoltane, N.; Jeannot, E.; et al. Comprehensive Genomic Profiling of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Reveals FGFR1 Amplifications and Tumour Genomic Alterations Burden as Prognostic Biomarkers of Survival. *Eur. J. Cancer* 2018, *91*, 47–55. [CrossRef]

- Gleber-Netto, F.O.; Zhao, M.; Trivedi, S.; Wang, J.; Jasser, S.A.; McDowell, C.; Kadara, H.; Zhang, J.; Wang, J.; William, W.N.; et al. Distinct Pattern of TP53 Mutations in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Related Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer* 2017, *124*, 84–94. [CrossRef]
- Larsen, C.G.; Jensen, D.H.; Agander, T.K.; Kiss, K.; Høgdall, E.; Specht, L.; Bagger, F.O.; Nielsen, F.C. Deep Sequencing of Human Papillomavirus Positive Loco-Regionally Advanced Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinomas Reveals Novel Mutational Signature. *BMC Cancer* 2018, 18, 640.
- Haft, S.; Ren, S.; Xu, G.; Mark, A.; Fisch, K.; Guo, T.W.; Khan, Z.; Pang, J.; Ando, M.; Liu, C.; et al. Mutation of Chromatin Regulators and Focal Hotspot Alterations Characterize Human Papillomavirus–Positive Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer* 2019, *125*, 2423–2434. [CrossRef]
- 31. Koncar, R.; Feldman, R.; Bahassi, E.M.; Sadraei, N.H. Comparative Molecular Profiling of HPV-Induced Squamous Cell Carcino- mas. *Cancer Med.* 2017, 6, 1673–1685. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lim, S.M.; Cho, S.; Hwang, I.G.; Choi, J.W.; Chang, H.; Ahn, M.; Park, K.U.; Kim, J.; Ko, Y.H.; Ahn, H.K.; et al. Investigating the Feasibility of Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing to Guide the Treatment of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancer Res. Treat.* 2019, *51*, 300–312. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Qin, T.; Zhang, Y.; Zarins, K.R.; Jones, T.R.; Virani, S.; Peterson, L.A.; McHugh, J.B.; Chepeha, D.; Wolf, G.T.; Rozek, L.S.; et al. Expressed HNSCC Variants by HPV-Status in a Well-Characterized Michigan Cohort. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 11458. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Reder, H.; Wagner, S.; Gamerdinger, U.; Sandmann, S.; Wuerdemann, N.; Braeuninger, A.; Dugas, M.; Gattenloehner, S.; Klußmann, J.P.; Wittekindt, C. Genetic Alterations in Human Papillomavirus-Associated Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carci- noma of Patients with Treatment Failure. *Oral Oncol.* 2019, 93, 59–65. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Reder, H.; Wagner, S.; Wuerdemann, N.; Langer, C.; Sandmann, S.; Braeuninger, A.; Dugas, M.; Gattenloehner, S.; Wittekindt, C.; Klußmann, J.P. Mutation Patterns in Recurrent and/or Metastatic Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinomas in Relation to Human Papillomavirus Status. *Cancer Med.* 2021, 10, 1347–1356. [CrossRef]
- 36. Saba, N.F.; Dinasarapu, A.R.; Magliocca, K.R.; Dwivedi, B.; Seby, S.; Qin, Z.S.; Patel, M.R.; Griffith, C.C.; Wang, X.; El-Deiry, M.; et al. Signatures of Somatic Mutations and Gene Expression from P16INK4A Positive Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas (HNSCC). *PLoS ONE* 2020, 15, e0238497. [CrossRef]

- 37. Wahle, B.; Zolkind, P.; Ramirez, R.; Skidmore, Z.L.; Anderson, S.R.; Mazul, A.L.; Hayes, D.N.; Sandulache, V.C.; Thorstad, W.L.; Adkins, D.R.; et al. Integrative Genomic Analysis Reveals Low T-Cell Infiltration as the Primary Feature of Tobacco Use in HPV-Positive Oropharyngeal Cancer. *iScience* 2022, *25*, 104216. [CrossRef]
- Stransky, N.; Egloff, A.M.; Tward, A.D.; Kostic, A.D.; Cibulskis, K.; Sivachenko, A.; Kryukov, G.V.; Lawrence, M.S.; Sougnez, C.; McKenna, A.; et al. The Mutational Landscape of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Science* 2011, *333*, 1157–1160. [CrossRef]
- Williams, E.; Montesion, M.; Alexander, B.M.; Ramkissoon, S.; Elvin, J.A.; Ross, J.S.; Williams, K.J.; Glomski, K.; Bledsoe, J.R.; Tse, J.Y.; et al. CYLD Mutation Characterizes a Subset of HPV-Positive Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas with Distinctive Genomics and Frequent Cylindroma-like Histologic Features. *Mod. Pathol.* 2021, *34*, 358–370. [CrossRef]
- 40. Antonsson, A.; Law, M.H.; Neale, R.E.; Coman, W.B.; Pryor, D.; Porceddu, S.; Whiteman, D.C. Variants of EVER1 and EVER2 (TMC6 and TMC8) and Human Papillomavirus Status in Patients with Mucosal Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *Cancer Causes Control* 2016, 27, 809–815. [CrossRef]
- Barten, M.; Ostwald, C.; Wukasch, Y.; Müller, P.; Löning, T.; Milde-Langosch, K. HPV DNA and P53 Alterations in Oropharyngeal Carcinomas. *Virchows Arch.* 1995, 427, 153–157.
   [CrossRef]
- Benzerdjeb, N.; Tantot, J.; Blanchet, C.; Philouze, P.; Mekki, Y.; Lopez, J.; Devouassoux-Shisheboran, M. Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma: P16/P53 Immunohistochemistry as a Strong Predictor of HPV Tumour Status. *Histopathology* 2021, 79, 381–390. [CrossRef]
- 43. Chen, Z.; Zhang, C.; Chen, J.; Wang, D.; Tu, J.; Van Waes, C.; Saba, N.F.; Chen, Z.G.; Chen, Z. The Proteomic Landscape of Growth Factor Signaling Networks Associated with FAT1Mutations in Head and Neck Cancers. *Cancer Res.* 2021, *81*, 4402–4416. [CrossRef]
- 44. Chiosea, S.I.; Grandis, J.R.; Lui, V.W.Y.; Diergaarde, B.; Maxwell, J.H.; Ferris, R.L.; Kim, S.W.; Luvison, A.; Miller, M.A.; Nikiforova, M.N. PIK3CA, HRAS and PTEN in Human Papillomavirus Positive Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* 2013, *13*, 602. [CrossRef]
- 45. Ekalaksananan, T.; Wongjampa, W.; Phusingha, P.; Chuerduangphui, J.; Vatanasapt, P.; Promthet, S.; Patarapadungkit, N.; Pientong, C. Comprehensive Data of P53 R282 Gene Mutation with Human Papillomaviruses (HPV)-Associated Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma (OSCC). *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* **2020**, *26*, 1191–1199. [CrossRef]

- 46. Fallai, C.; Perrone, F.; Licitra, L.; Pilotti, S.; Locati, L.D.; Bossi, P.; Orlandi, E.; Palazzi, M.; Olmi, P. Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma Treated with Radiotherapy or Radiochemotherapy: Prognostic Role of TP53 and HPV Status. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2009, 75, 1053–1059. [CrossRef]
- 47. Farnebo, L.; Stjernström, A.; Fredrikson, M.; Ansell, A.; Garvin, S.; Thunell, L.K. DNA Repair Genes XPC, XPD, XRCC1, and XRCC3 Are Associated with Risk and Survival of Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *DNA Repair* 2015, *31*, 64–72. [CrossRef]
- Hong, A.; Zhang, X.; Jones, D.B.; Veillard, A.-S.; Zhang, M.; Martin, A.; Lyons, J.G.; Lee, C.S.; Rose, B. Relationships between P53 Mutation, HPV Status and Outcome in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Radiother. Oncol.* 2016, *118*, 342–349. [CrossRef]
   [PubMed]
- Cortelazzi, B.; Verderio, P.; Ciniselli, C.M.; Pizzamiglio, S.; Bossi, P.; Gloghini, A.; Gualeni, A.V.; Volpi, C.C.; Locati, L.D.; Pierotti, M.A.; et al. Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Profiles and Human Papillomavirus Status in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *J. Oral Pathol. Med.* 2014, 44, 734–745. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 50. De Carvalho, A.C.; Melendez, M.E.; Da Silva Sábato, C.; Palmero, E.I.; Arantes, L.M.R.B.; Neto, C.S. Clinical and Molecular Characterization of Surgically Treated Oropharynx Squamous Cell Carcinoma Samples. *Pathol. Oncol. Res.* 2018, 25, 1047–1058. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 51. Friedland, P.; Thomas, A.; Naran, A.; Amanuel, B.; Grieu-Iacopetta, F.; Carrello, A.; Harnett, G.B.; Meyer, C.; Phillips, M. Human Papillomavirus and Gene Mutations in Head and Neck Squamous Carcinomas. *Anz J. Surg.* 2011, *82*, 362–366. [CrossRef]
- 52. Ghosh, A.; Maiti, G.P.; Bandopadhyay, M.N.; Chakraborty, J.; Biswas, J.; Roychoudhury, S.; Panda, C.K. Inactivation of 9q22.3 tumor suppressor genes predict outcome for patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Anticancer Res.* 2013, *33*, 1215–1220.
- 53. Gross, A.M.; Orosco, R.K.; Shen, J.P.; Egloff, A.M.; Carter, H.; Hofree, M.; Choueiri, M.; Coffey, C.S.; Lippman, S.M.; Hayes, D.N.; et al. Multi-Tiered Genomic Analysis of Head and Neck Cancer Ties TP53 Mutation to 3p Loss. *Nat. Genet.* 2014, *46*, 939–943. [CrossRef]
- 54. Chao, H.; Cintra, M.B.; Brennan, K.; Zhou, M.; Colevas, A.D.; Fischbein, N.J.; Zhu, S.; Gevaert, O. Development and Validation of Radiomic Signatures of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Molecular Features and Subtypes. *EBioMedicine* **2019**, *45*, 70–80.
- 55. Licitra, L.; Perrone, F.; Bossi, P.; Suardi, S.; Mariani, L.; Artusi, R.; Oggionni, M.; Rossini, C.; Cantu, G.; Squadrelli, M.; et al. High-Risk Human Papillomavirus Affects Prognosis in Patients

with Surgically Treated Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J. Clin. Oncol. 2006, 24, 5630–5636. [CrossRef]

- 56. Mazurek, A.; Rutkowski, T.; Fiszer-Kierzkowska, A.; Małusecka, E.; Składowski, K. Assessment of the Total CfDNA and HPV16/18 Detection in Plasma Samples of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Patients. *Oral Oncol.* 2016, *54*, 36–41. [CrossRef]
- 57. Saba, N.F.; Wilson, M.M.; Doho, G.; DaSilva, J.; Isett, R.B.; Newman, S.; Chen, Z.G.; Magliocca, K.R.; Rossi, M.R. Mutation and Transcriptional Profiling of Formalin-Fixed Paraffin Embedded Specimens as Companion Methods to Immunohistochemistry for Determining Therapeutic Targets in Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma (OPSCC): A Pilot of Proof of Principle. *Head Neck Pathol.* 2014, *9*, 223–235. [CrossRef]
- Sewell, A.; Brown, B.; Biktasova, A.; Mills, G.B.; Lu, Y.; Tyson, D.R.; Issaeva, N.; Yarbrough, W.G. Reverse-Phase Protein Array Profiling of Oropharyngeal Cancer and Significance of PIK3CA Mutations in HPV-Associated Head and Neck Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2014, 20, 2300–2311. [CrossRef]
- 59. Shaikh, H.; McGrath, J.; Hughes, B.N.; Xiu, J.; Brodskiy, P.; Sukari, A.; Darabi, S.; Ikpeazu, C.; Nabhan, C.; Korn, W.M.; et al. Genomic and Molecular Profiling of Human Papillomavirus Associated Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Treated with Immune Checkpoint Blockade Compared to Survival Outcomes. *Cancers* 2021, *13*, 6309. [CrossRef]
- 60. Timbang, M.R.; Sim, M.W.; Bewley, A.F.; Farwell, D.G.; Mantravadi, A.V.; Moore, M.G. HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer: A Review on Burden of the Disease and Opportunities for Prevention and Early Detection. *Hum. Vaccines Immunother.* 2019, *15*, 1920–1928. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 61. Cho, J.; Johnson, D.E.; Grandis, J.R. Therapeutic Implications of the Genetic Landscape of Head and Neck Cancer. *Semin. Radiat. Oncol.* **2018**, *28*, 2–11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 62. Fernández-Mateos, J.; Pérez-García, J.; Seijas-Tamayo, R.; MesíA, R.; Rubió-Casadevall, J.; García-Girón, C.; Iglesias, L.; Maseda, A.C.; Klain, J.C.A.; Cequier, Á.; et al. Oncogenic Driver Mutations Predict Outcome in a Cohort of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma (HNSCC) Patients within a Clinical Trial. *Sci. Rep.* **2020**, *10*, 16634. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. German, S.; Aslam, H.M.; Saleem, S.; Raees, A.; Anum, T.; Alvi, A.A.; Haseeb, A. Carcinogenesis of PIK3CA. *Hered. Cancer Clin. Pract.* **2013**, *11*, 5. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Rivlin, N.; Brosh, R.; Oren, M.; Rotter, V. Mutations in the P53 Tumor Suppressor Gene: Important Milestones at the Various Steps of Tumorigenesis. *Genes Cancer* 2011, 2, 466–474.
   [CrossRef]

- Marei, H.E.; Althani, A.; Afifi, N.; Hasan, A.; Caceci, T.; Pozzoli, G.; Morrione, A.; Giordano, A.; Cenciarelli, C. P53 Signaling in Cancer Progression and Therapy. *Cancer Cell Int.* 2021, 21, 703. [CrossRef]
- Vogt, P.K.; Hart, J.R.; Gymnopoulos, M.; Jiang, H.; Kang, S.; Bader, A.G.; Zhao, L.; Denley,
   A. Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase: The Oncoprotein. In *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2010; pp. 79–104.
- 67. Yang, J.; Nie, J.; Ma, X.; Wei, Y.; Peng, Y.; Wei, X. Targeting PI3K in Cancer: Mechanisms and Advances in Clinical Trials. *Mol. Cancer* **2019**, *18*, 26. [CrossRef]
- Ligresti, G.; Militello, L.; Steelman, L.S.; Cavallaro, A.; Burzotta, F.; Nicoletti, F.; Stivala, F.; McCubrey, J.A.; Libra, M. PIK3CA Mutations in Human Solid Tumors: Role in Sensitivity to Various Therapeutic Approaches. *Cell Cycle* 2009, *8*, 1352–1358. [CrossRef]
- Whiteside, T.L. The Tumor Microenvironment and Its Role in Promoting Tumor Growth. Oncogene 2008, 27, 5904–5912. [CrossRef]
- 70. Lechien, J.R.; Descamps, G.; Seminerio, I.; Furgiuele, S.; Dequanter, D.; Mouawad, F.; Badoual, C.; Journé, F.; Saussez, S. HPV Involvement in the Tumor Microenvironment and Immune Treatment in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas. *Cancers* 2020, *12*, 1060. [CrossRef]
- Julian, R.; Savani, M.; Bauman, J.E. Immunotherapy Approaches in HPV-Associated Head and Neck Cancer. *Cancers* 2021, 13, 5889. [CrossRef]
- Jaillon, S.; Ponzetta, A.; Di Mitri, D.; Santoni, A.; Bonecchi, R.; Mantovani, A. Neutrophil Diversity and Plasticity in Tumour Progression and Therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2020, *20*, 485– 503. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 73. Sionov, R.V. Leveling Up the Controversial Role of Neutrophils in Cancer: When the Complexity Becomes Entangled. *Cells* **2021**, *10*, 2486. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dutta, A.; Bhagat, S.; Paul, S.; Katz, J.P.; Sengupta, D.N.; Bhargava, D. Neutrophils in Cancer and Potential Therapeutic Strategies Using Neutrophil-Derived Exosomes. *Vaccines* 2023, *11*, 1028. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 75. Ohms, M.; Möller, S.; Laskay, T. An Attempt to Polarize Human Neutrophils Toward N1 and N2 Phenotypes in Vitro. *Front. Immunol.* 2020, *11*, 532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 76. Masucci, M.T.; Minopoli, M.; Carriero, M.V. Tumor Associated Neutrophils. Their Role in Tumorigenesis, Metastasis, Prognosis and Therapy. *Front. Oncol.* 2019, 9, 1146. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 77. Aarts, C.E.M.; Hiemstra, I.H.; Béguin, E.P.; Hoogendijk, A.J.; Bouchmal, S.; Van Houdt, M.; Tool, A.T.J.; Mul, E.; Jansen, M.H.; Janssen, H.; et al. Activated Neutrophils Exert Myeloid-

Derived Suppressor Cell Activity Damaging T Cells beyond Repair. *Blood Adv.* **2019**, *3*, 3562–3574. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 78. Bartlett, E.K.; Flynn, J.; Panageas, K.S.; Ferraro, R.; Cruz, J.; Postow, M.A.; Coit, D.G.; Ariyan, C.E. High Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte Ratio (NLR) Is Associated with Treatment Failure and Death in Patients Who Have Melanoma Treated with PD-1 Inhibitor Monotherapy. *Cancer* 2019, *126*, 76–85. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 79. Gago-Domínguez, M.; Matabuena, M.; Redondo, C.M.; Patel, S.P.; Carracedo, Á.; Ponte, S.M.; MartíNez, M.E.; Castelao, J.E. Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio and Breast Cancer Risk: Analysis by Subtype and Potential Interactions. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 13203. [CrossRef]
- Howard, R.; Kanetsky, P.A.; Egan, K.M. Exploring the Prognostic Value of the Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio in Cancer. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*, 19673. [CrossRef]
- Rosales, C. Neutrophil: A Cell with Many Roles in Inflammation or Several Cell Types? *Front. Physiol.* 2018, 9, 113. [CrossRef]
- Malech, H.L.; DeLeo, F.R.; Quinn, M.T. The Role of Neutrophils in the Immune System: An Overview. In *Methods in Molecular Biology*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2014; pp. 3–10.
- Wribe-Querol, E.; Rosales, C. Neutrophils in Cancer: Two Sides of the Same Coin. J. Immunol. Res. 2015, 2015, 983698. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 84. Silvestre-Roig, C.; Fridlender, Z.G.; Glogauer, M.; Scapini, P. Neutrophil Diversity in Health and Disease. *Trends Immunol.* **2019**, *40*, 565–583. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 85. Yu, Y.; Wang, H.; Yan, A.; Wang, H.; Li, X.; Liu, J.; Li, W. Pretreatment Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio in Determining the Prognosis of Head and Neck Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *BMC Cancer* 2018, 18, 383. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Xiong, S.; Dong, L.; Cheng, L. Neutrophils in Cancer Carcinogenesis and Metastasis. J. Hematol. Oncol. 2021, 14, 173. [CrossRef]
- Al-Sahaf, S.; Hendawi, N.; Ollington, B.; Bolt, R.J.; Ottewell, P.D.; Hunter, K.D.; Murdoch, C. Increased Abundance of Tumour- Associated Neutrophils in HPV-Negative Compared to HPV-Positive Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma Is Mediated by IL-1R Signalling. *Front. Oral Health* 2021, 2, 604565. [CrossRef]
- Ocaña, A.; Nieto-Jiménez, C.; Pandiella, A.; Templeton, A.J. Neutrophils in Cancer: Prognostic Role and Therapeutic Strategies. *Mol. Cancer* 2017, *16*, 137. [CrossRef]
- Hirano, T. IL-6 in Inflammation, Autoimmunity and Cancer. *Int. Immunol.* 2020, *33*, 127–148.
   [CrossRef]

90. Raftopoulou, S.; Valadez-Cosmes, P.; Mihalic, Z.N.; Schicho, R.; Kargl, J. Tumor-Mediated Neutrophil Polarization and Therapeutic Implications. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2022, 23, 3218.
[CrossRef]

**Disclaimer/Publisher's Note:** The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

## **5 DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSION**

The following section provides a summary of the research, including its rationale, findings, strengths, and limitations. It also discusses future research directions and explores the implications of the results.

## 4.1 Summary of research

The primary goal of my thesis was to conduct a comprehensive literature review focusing on studies related to HPV-positive OPSCC to identify the most common genetic alterations across all examined studies. Using the information generated from this literature, other team members fulfill the objectives stated in the chapter aims and objectives. While I am the first author on the paper, I did not participate in the execution of other aims of the papers. Therefore, the discussion and conclusions on this chapter refers only to the literature review that I conducted. A literature review was conducted to identify the mutation profile of patients with HPV-positive OPSCC. This research identified ten most common mutated genes which were *TP53*, *PIK3CA*, *PTEN*, *NOTCH1*, *RB1*, *FAT1*, *FBXW7*, *HRAS*, *KRAS*, and *CDKN2A* as mentioned earlier.

HPV-positive cancers represent a significant global health challenge, emphasizing the critical need for a comprehensive understanding of the biological mechanisms driving tumor development. Further exploratory data analysis revealed the complex interplay between tumor cells, neutrophils, and the surrounding TME. n HPV-positive tumors, the viral oncoproteins E6 and E7 interfere with the proteins p53 and Rb involved in regulatory pathways within the cells by eliminating the need for various genetic changes induced by prolonged exposure to

cigarettes. Consequently, HPV-positive OPSCC exhibits a molecular-genetic profile distinct from cancers associated with smoking<sup>111,112</sup>. The presence of HPV in OPSCC defines a clinically unique form of HNSCC with significantly better clinical outcomes compared to its HPV-negative counterpart<sup>113,114</sup>. So, it is a consensus that HPV-driven OPSCC and OPSCC associated to tobacco and alcohol consumption represent biologically distinct entities<sup>25,115-120</sup> The information about the molecular profile of HPV-positive HNSCC might provide new opportunities to develop novel biomarkers for HPV diagnostics and innovative therapeutic approaches.

#### 4.2 Strengths and limitations

Since this thesis was based on conducting a comprehensive literature review. Strength of this review depends entirely on the quality of included studies. That is in terms of the range and number of papers included, the broad focus captured most of the genetic mutations noted in HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCC.

This review encompasses various study designs, including retrospective cohorts, thus including a spectrum of papers covering the clinical as well as genetic and epidemiological perspectives. Additionally, the maximum interval of included published studies was up to 2023 ensuring the relevance and latest research findings. The result of our study that neutrophil infiltration and HPV status may have potential prognostic significance in OPSCC are clinically significant in predicting the patient's prognosis and helping in finding new treatment strategies.

The cumulative data of approximately 8300 patients across 12 countries within this review helped in highlighting the gaps in knowledge and further implying the potential directions towards future research studies.

Due to the reliance of the searching process on pre-existing literature, this research study may have limitations related to publication bias, which could result in an overrepresentation of studies with significant or positive findings. Studies' comparability and relevance may be impacted by changes in treatment modalities, technology, and diagnostic criteria over time, given the period from 1995 to 2023. A scoping review provides a broad overview, but its analysis may not be as in-depth as that of systematic reviews.

#### 4.3 Implications for public health

This study pinpoints the key genetic changes associated with HPV-positive and HPV-negative OPSCC. This knowledge can support future investigations in developing drug screening methods and early detection tools. The fundament of this thesis can help educational health programs about risk factors and sexual behaviours as well as prevention and vaccination campaigns, including to avoid the future occurrence of HPV-related cancers.

#### 4.4 Future directions

The results of this study open new avenues for future research projects to explore the functional outcomes of the identified genetic alterations aiming to evaluate their role in HPV-positive HNC development and progression. The use of preclinical and animal models could support future studies to potentially develop chemical compounds to target these genetic alterations identified in my thesis in order to perform target drug evaluation. The advent of new molecular genome-altering technologies such as CRISPR/Cas9 allows for genetic mutations to be removed or inserted in the germ line of a mouse faster and less expensively than previous methods. This technique could also be used to knockout or knockin the genes identified in my thesis to perform functional analysis. In addition, manipulations of gene expression with siRNAs and antisense oligonucleotides, allow for even greater exploration into genomics and systems biology enhancing the potential for drug discovery and personalized medicine. However, caution should be considered in interpreting *in silico* data to the relevance in clinical settings. It is recommended that results from *in silico* prediction algorithms should never be used as the sole evidence for clinical decision making.

# **6 REFERENCES**

(1) Statistics, C. C. 2023. <u>https://cdn.cancer.ca/-/media/files/research/cancer-statistics/2023-</u>

statistics/2023\_pdf\_en.pdf?rev=7e0c86ef787d425081008ed22377754d&hash=DBD68 18195657364D831AF0641C4B45C&\_gl=1\*e8qpwa\*\_gcl\_au\*MjAwMjUzMjY0NC4xNzA3 OTI0NzA1 (accessed 2024 12 January).

(2) Survivonet. <u>https://survivornet.ca/cancer-type/head-neck-cancer/#link-target</u> (accessed 2024 2 January ).

(3) Heroiu Cataloiu, A. D.; Danciu, C. E.; Popescu, C. R. Multiple cancers of the head and neck. *Maedica (Bucur)* **2013**, *8* (1), 80-85. From NLM.

(4) Dalianis, T. Human papillomavirus (HPV) and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Presse Med* **2014**, *43* (12 Pt 2), e429-434. DOI: 10.1016/j.lpm.2014.08.010 From NLM.

(5) Dayyani, F.; Etzel, C. J.; Liu, M.; Ho, C. H.; Lippman, S. M.; Tsao, A. S. Meta-analysis of the impact of human papillomavirus (HPV) on cancer risk and overall survival in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC). *Head Neck Oncol* **2010**, *2*, 15. DOI: 10.1186/1758-3284-2-15 From NLM.

(6) Borella, F.; Gallio, N.; Mangherini, L.; Cassoni, P.; Bertero, L.; Benedetto, C.; Preti, M. Recent advances in treating female genital human papillomavirus related neoplasms with topical imiquimod. *J Med Virol* **2023**, *95* (11), e29238. DOI: 10.1002/jmv.29238 From NLM.

(7) Harden, M. E.; Munger, K. Human papillomavirus molecular biology. *Mutat Res Rev Mutat Res* **2017**, *772*, 3-12. DOI: 10.1016/j.mrrev.2016.07.002 From NLM.

(8) Burd, E. M. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **2003**, *16* (1), 1-17. DOI: 10.1128/cmr.16.1.1-17.2003 From NLM.

(9) Scarth, J. A.; Patterson, M. R.; Morgan, E. L.; Macdonald, A. The human papillomavirus oncoproteins: a review of the host pathways targeted on the road to transformation. *J Gen Virol* **2021**, *102* (3). DOI: 10.1099/jgv.0.001540 From NLM.

(10) Ferris, R. L.; Westra, W. Oropharyngeal Carcinoma with a Special Focus on HPV-Related Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Annu Rev Pathol* **2023**, *18*, 515-535. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-031521-041424 From NLM.

(11) Cho, J.; Johnson, D. E.; Grandis, J. R. Therapeutic Implications of the Genetic Landscape of Head and Neck Cancer. *Semin Radiat Oncol* **2018**, *28* (1), 2-11. DOI: 10.1016/j.semradonc.2017.08.005 From NLM.

(12) Rettig, E. M.; D'Souza, G. Epidemiology of head and neck cancer. *Surg Oncol Clin N Am* **2015**, *24* (3), 379-396. DOI: 10.1016/j.soc.2015.03.001 From NLM.

(13) Cohen, N.; Fedewa, S.; Chen, A. Y. Epidemiology and Demographics of the Head and Neck Cancer Population. *Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am* **2018**, *30* (4), 381-395. DOI: 10.1016/j.coms.2018.06.001 From NLM.

(14) Klussmann, J. P. Head and Neck Cancer - New Insights into a Heterogeneous Disease. *Oncol Res Treat* **2017**, *40* (6), 318-319. DOI: 10.1159/000477255 From NLM.

(15) Institute, N. C. *Head and Neck Cancer* 2021. <u>https://www.cancer.gov/types/head-and-neck/head-neck-fact-sheet</u> (accessed 2024 6 February).

(16) Tumban, E. A Current Update on Human Papillomavirus-Associated Head and Neck Cancers. *Viruses* **2019**, *11* (10). DOI: 10.3390/v11100922 From NLM.

(17) Markopoulos, A. K. Current aspects on oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Open Dent J***2012**, 6, 126-130. DOI: 10.2174/1874210601206010126 From NLM.

(18) StatPearls. Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. 2023. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK563268/ (accessed 2024 6 February).

(19) Codes, I.-.-P. <u>https://cancercenter.ai/icd-o-pathology-codes/</u> (accessed 2023 4 October).

(20) Orphanet. *Rare diseases*. 2024. <u>https://www.orpha.net/consor/cgi-bin/OC\_Exp.php?lng=EN&Expert=502363</u> (accessed 2024 6 February ).

(21) Huang, S. H.; O'Sullivan, B. Overview of the 8th Edition TNM Classification for Head and Neck Cancer. *Curr Treat Options Oncol* **2017**, *18* (7), 40. DOI: 10.1007/s11864-017-0484-y From NLM.

(22) (UICC), T. U. f. I. C. C. TNM history, evolution and milestones. http://www.uicc.org/sites/main/files/private/History\_

Evolution\_Milestones\_0.pdf: The Union for International Cancer Control (UICC). (accessed 2023 12 November).

(23) TNM History, E. a. M. *TNM History, Evolution and Milestones*. 2017. https://www.uicc.org/ sites/main/files/atoms/files/TNM\_History\_updated\_June2017. pdf. (accessed 2024 6 February ).

(24) O'Sullivan B. Head and neck tumours. In: Brierley J; Gospodarowicz M, C. W., et al., editors. *UICC TNM* 

classification of Malignant Tumours. Eighth ed.

Chichester: Wiley; 2017. p. 17–54. 2017. https://www.wiley.com/enca/TNM+Classification+of+Malignant+Tumours%2C+8th+Edition-p-9781119263579 (accessed 2023 24 November ).

(25) O'Sullivan, B.; Huang, S. H.; Su, J.; Garden, A. S.; Sturgis, E. M.; Dahlstrom, K.; Lee, N.; Riaz, N.; Pei, X.; Koyfman, S. A.; et al. Development and validation of a staging system for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer by the International Collaboration on Oropharyngeal cancer Network for Staging (ICON-S): a multicentre cohort study. *Lancet Oncol* **2016**, *17* (4), 440-451. DOI: 10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00560-4 From NLM.

(26) MB, A. Amin MB (ed) (2017) AJCC cancer staging manual, 8th edn. Springer, New York. 2017. (accessed 2023 2 December ).

(27) Economopoulou, P.; Kotsantis, I.; Psyrri, A. Special Issue about Head and Neck Cancers: HPV Positive Cancers. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **2020**, *21*, 3388. DOI: 10.3390/ijms21093388.

(28) Atlas., T. B. o. C. T. C. *The Burden of Cancer. The Cancer Atlas.* <u>https://canceratlas.cancer.org/the-burden/the-burden-of-cancer/</u>

(accessed 2023 10 October).

(29) Johnson, D. E.; Burtness, B.; Leemans, C. R.; Lui, V. W. Y.; Bauman, J. E.; Grandis, J. R. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2020, 6 (1), 92. DOI: 10.1038/s41572-020-00224-3 From NLM.

(30) Ferlay, J.; Colombet, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Mathers, C.; Parkin, D. M.; Piñeros, M.; Znaor, A.; Bray, F. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *Int J Cancer* **2019**, *144* (8), 1941-1953. DOI: 10.1002/ijc.31937 From NLM.

(31) Bray, F.; Ferlay, J.; Soerjomataram, I.; Siegel, R. L.; Torre, L. A.; Jemal, A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for

36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* **2018**, 68 (6), 394-424. DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492 From NLM.

(32) Ferlay, J.; Colombet, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Parkin, D. M.; Piñeros, M.; Znaor, A.;
Bray, F. Cancer statistics for the year 2020: An overview. *Int J Cancer* 2021. DOI: 10.1002/ijc.33588 From NLM.

(33) Barsouk, A.; Aluru, J. S.; Rawla, P.; Saginala, K.; Barsouk, A. Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Prevention of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Med Sci (Basel)* **2023**, *11* (2). DOI: 10.3390/medsci11020042 From NLM.

(34) de Martel, C.; Plummer, M.; Vignat, J.; Franceschi, S. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to HPV by site, country and HPV type. *Int J Cancer* **2017**, *141* (4), 664-670. DOI: 10.1002/ijc.30716 From NLM.

(35) Lu, Y.; Xie, Z.; Luo, G.; Yan, H.; Qian, H. Z.; Fu, L.; Wang, B.; Huang, R.; Cao, F.; Lin,
H.; et al. Global burden of oropharyngeal cancer attributable to human papillomavirus
by anatomical subsite and geographic region. *Cancer Epidemiol* 2022, *78*, 102140. DOI:
10.1016/j.canep.2022.102140 From NLM.

(36) D'Souza, G.; Westra, W. H.; Wang, S. J.; van Zante, A.; Wentz, A.; Kluz, N.; Rettig, E.; Ryan, W. R.; Ha, P. K.; Kang, H.; et al. Differences in the Prevalence of Human Papillomavirus (HPV) in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Cancers by Sex, Race, Anatomic Tumor Site, and HPV Detection Method. *JAMA Oncol* **2017**, *3* (2), 169-177. DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.3067 From NLM.

(37) Sung, H.; Ferlay, J.; Siegel, R. L.; Laversanne, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Jemal, A.; Bray,
F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality
Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* **2021**, *71* (3), 209-249. DOI:
10.3322/caac.21660 From NLM.

(38) Forte, T.; Niu, J.; Lockwood, G. A.; Bryant, H. E. Incidence trends in head and neck cancers and human papillomavirus (HPV)-associated oropharyngeal cancer in Canada, 1992-2009. *Cancer Causes Control* **2012**, *23* (8), 1343-1348. DOI: 10.1007/s10552-012-0013-z From NLM.

(39) Johnson-Obaseki, S.; McDonald, J. T.; Corsten, M.; Rourke, R. Head and neck cancer in Canada: trends 1992 to 2007. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* **2012**, *147* (1), 74-78. DOI: 10.1177/0194599812437332 From NLM.

67

(40) Ndon, S.; Singh, A.; Ha, P. K.; Aswani, J.; Chan, J. Y.; Xu, M. J. Human Papillomavirus-Associated Oropharyngeal Cancer: Global Epidemiology and Public Policy Implications. *Cancers (Basel)* **2023**, *15* (16). DOI: 10.3390/cancers15164080 From NLM.

(41) Gormley, M.; Creaney, G.; Schache, A.; Ingarfield, K.; Conway, D. I. Reviewing the epidemiology of head and neck cancer: definitions, trends and risk factors. *Br Dent J* **2022**, *233* (9), 780-786. DOI: 10.1038/s41415-022-5166-x From NLM.

(42) Global Burden of Disease [database.Washington, D. I. o. H. M. I. (accessed 2024 12 February).

(43) Publications, W. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240077164</u> (accessed 2023 5 November).

(44) 102:1–2., A. R. C. o. t. m. T. c. a. t. N. M. J. Abbe R. Cancer of the mouth: The case against tobacco. NY Med J 1915. 102:1–2.

. (accessed 2023 10 September).

(45) IARC. Vol. 38, T. S. I. M. o. t. e. o. t. c. r. o. c. t. h. *IARC. Vol. 38, Tobacco Smoking. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans* 1986.

. (accessed 2023 10 September).

(46) Genome. https://www.genome.gov/genetics-glossary/Carcinogen

(accessed 2023 20 September).

(47) Hashibe, M.; Brennan, P.; Benhamou, S.; Castellsague, X.; Chen, C.; Curado, M. P.; Dal Maso, L.; Daudt, A. W.; Fabianova, E.; Fernandez, L.; et al. Alcohol drinking in never users of tobacco, cigarette smoking in never drinkers, and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **2007**, 99 (10), 777-789. DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djk179 From NLM.

(48) Jethwa, A. R.; Khariwala, S. S. Tobacco-related carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **2017**, *36* (3), 411-423. DOI: 10.1007/s10555-017-9689-6 From NLM.

(49) Blot, W. J.; McLaughlin, J. K.; Winn, D. M.; Austin, D. F.; Greenberg, R. S.; Preston-Martin, S.; Bernstein, L.; Schoenberg, J. B.; Stemhagen, A.; Fraumeni, J. F., Jr. Smoking and drinking in relation to oral and pharyngeal cancer. *Cancer Res* **1988**, *48* (11), 3282-3287. From NLM. (50) Berthiller, J.; Straif, K.; Agudo, A.; Ahrens, W.; Bezerra Dos Santos, A.; Boccia, S.; Cadoni, G.; Canova, C.; Castellsague, X.; Chen, C.; et al. Low frequency of cigarette smoking and the risk of head and neck cancer in the INHANCE consortium pooled analysis. *Int J Epidemiol* 2016, *45* (3), 835-845. DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyv146 From NLM.
(51) Yu, V. X.; Long, S.; Tassler, A. Smoking and Head and Neck Cancer. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2023, *149* (5), 470. DOI: 10.1001/jamaoto.2023.0195 From NLM.
(52) Boffetta, P.; Hecht, S.; Gray, N.; Gupta, P.; Straif, K. Smokeless tobacco and cancer. *Lancet Oncol* 2008, *9* (7), 667-675. DOI: 10.1016/s1470-2045(08)70173-6 From NLM.
(53) Khariwala, S. S.; Hatsukami, D.; Hecht, S. S. Tobacco carcinogen metabolites and DNA adducts as biomarkers in head and neck cancer: potential screening tools and prognostic indicators. *Head Neck* 2012, *34* (3), 441-447. DOI: 10.1002/hed.21705 From NLM.

(54) Hobbs. https://www.drchrishobbs.com/uploads/8/2/1/2/8212308/etiology\_of\_head\_\_neck\_ca ncer.pdf (accessed 2023 2 September).

(55) Hecht, S. S. Tobacco carcinogens, their biomarkers and tobacco-induced cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2003**, *3* (10), 733-744. DOI: 10.1038/nrc1190 From NLM.

(56) Anantharaman, D.; Marron, M.; Lagiou, P.; Samoli, E.; Ahrens, W.; Pohlabeln, H.; Slamova, A.; Schejbalova, M.; Merletti, F.; Richiardi, L.; et al. Population attributable risk of tobacco and alcohol for upper aerodigestive tract cancer. *Oral Oncol* **2011**, *47* (8), 725-731. DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2011.05.004 From NLM.

(57) Hashibe, M.; Brennan, P.; Chuang, S. C.; Boccia, S.; Castellsague, X.; Chen, C.; Curado, M. P.; Dal Maso, L.; Daudt, A. W.; Fabianova, E.; et al. Interaction between tobacco and alcohol use and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2009, *18* (2), 541-550. DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-08-0347 From NLM.
(58) Zakhari, S. Overview: how is alcohol metabolized by the body? *Alcohol Res Health* 2006, *29* (4), 245-254. From NLM.

(59) Seitz, H. K.; Stickel, F. Acetaldehyde as an underestimated risk factor for cancer development: role of genetics in ethanol metabolism. *Genes Nutr* **2010**, 5 (2), 121-128. DOI: 10.1007/s12263-009-0154-1 From NLM.

69

(60) Huang, C. C.; Hsiao, J. R.; Lee, W. T.; Lee, Y. C.; Ou, C. Y.; Chang, C. C.; Lu, Y. C.; Huang, J. S.; Wong, T. Y.; Chen, K. C.; et al. Investigating the Association between Alcohol and Risk of Head and Neck Cancer in Taiwan. *Sci Rep* **2017**, *7* (1), 9701. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-08802-4 From NLM.

(61) de Villiers, E. M.; Fauquet, C.; Broker, T. R.; Bernard, H. U.; zur Hausen, H.
Classification of papillomaviruses. *Virology* 2004, *324* (1), 17-27. DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2004.03.033 From NLM.

(62) Buck, C. B.; Cheng, N.; Thompson, C. D.; Lowy, D. R.; Steven, A. C.; Schiller, J. T.; Trus, B. L. Arrangement of L2 within the papillomavirus capsid. *J Virol* **2008**, *82* (11), 5190-5197. DOI: 10.1128/jvi.02726-07 From NLM.

(63) Types, H. <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-</u> prevention/risk/infectious-agents/hpv-and-

cancer#:~:text=There%20are%2012%20high%2Drisk,for%20most%20HPV%2Drelated
%20cancers. (accessed 2023 10 October).

(64) Moore, P. S.; Chang, Y. Why do viruses cause cancer? Highlights of the first century of human tumour virology. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2010**, *10* (12), 878-889. DOI: 10.1038/nrc2961 From NLM.

(65) Syrjänen, S. Oral manifestations of human papillomavirus infections. *Eur J Oral Sci* **2018**, *126 Suppl 1* (Suppl Suppl 1), 49-66. DOI: 10.1111/eos.12538 From NLM.

(66) Wakeham, K.; Kavanagh, K. The burden of HPV-associated anogenital cancers. *Curr Oncol Rep* **2014**, *16* (9), 402. DOI: 10.1007/s11912-014-0402-4 From NLM.

(67) of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, No. 90.) 1, Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Infection. , I. W. G. o. t. E. o. C. R. t. H. H. P. L. F. I. A. f. R. o. C. I. M. o. t. E. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK321770/ (accessed 2023 10 October).

(68) Center, W. H. I. World HPV Information Center, Human papillomavirus and related diseases report, ICO HPV Inf. Cent. Rep. (July) (2017) 1–334. (accessed 2023 10 October).
(69) Lacko, M.; Braakhuis, B. J.; Sturgis, E. M.; Boedeker, C. C.; Suárez, C.; Rinaldo, A.; Ferlito, A.; Takes, R. P. Genetic susceptibility to head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* **2014**, *89* (1), 38-48. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.09.034 From NLM.

70

(70) Jefferies, S.; Eeles, R.; Goldgar, D.; A'Hern, R.; Henk, J. M.; Gore, M. The role of genetic factors in predisposition to squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. *Br J Cancer* **1999**, *79* (5-6), 865-867. DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6690138 From NLM.

(71) Gaglia, M. M.; Munger, K. More than just oncogenes: mechanisms of tumorigenesis by human viruses. *Curr Opin Virol* **2018**, *32*, 48-59. DOI: 10.1016/j.coviro.2018.09.003 From NLM.

(72) Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R. A. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* **2000**, *100* (1), 57-70. DOI:
10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81683-9 From NLM.

(73) Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R. A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **2011**, *144* (5), 646-674. DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013 From NLM.

(74) Estêvão, D.; Costa, N. R.; Gil da Costa, R. M.; Medeiros, R. Hallmarks of HPV carcinogenesis: The role of E6, E7 and E5 oncoproteins in cellular malignancy. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gene Regul Mech* 2019, 1862 (2), 153-162. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2019.01.001 From NLM.

(75) Stanley, M. A. Epithelial cell responses to infection with human papillomavirus. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **2012**, *2*5 (2), 215-222. DOI: 10.1128/cmr.05028-11 From NLM.

(76) Rampias, T.; Sasaki, C.; Psyrri, A. Molecular mechanisms of HPV induced carcinogenesis in head and neck. *Oral Oncol* 2014, 50 (5), 356-363. DOI: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.07.011 From NLM.

(77) Schiffman, M.; Doorbar, J.; Wentzensen, N.; de Sanjosé, S.; Fakhry, C.; Monk, B. J.; Stanley, M. A.; Franceschi, S. Carcinogenic human papillomavirus infection. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* **2016**, *2*, 16086. DOI: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.86 From NLM.

(78) Shinomiya, H.; Nibu, K. I. Etiology, diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of human papilloma virus-associated oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Clin Oncol* **2023**, *28* (8), 975-981. DOI: 10.1007/s10147-023-02336-8 From NLM.

(79) Gillison, M. L.; Koch, W. M.; Capone, R. B.; Spafford, M.; Westra, W. H.; Wu, L.; Zahurak, M. L.; Daniel, R. W.; Viglione, M.; Symer, D. E.; et al. Evidence for a causal association between human papillomavirus and a subset of head and neck cancers. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **2000**, *92* (9), 709-720. DOI: 10.1093/jnci/92.9.709 From NLM.

(80) Faraji, F.; Zaidi, M.; Fakhry, C.; Gaykalova, D. A. Molecular mechanisms of human papillomavirus-related carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. *Microbes Infect* **2017**, *19* (9-10), 464-475. DOI: 10.1016/j.micinf.2017.06.001 From NLM.

(81) Kines, R. C.; Thompson, C. D.; Lowy, D. R.; Schiller, J. T.; Day, P. M. The initial steps leading to papillomavirus infection occur on the basement membrane prior to cell surface binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2009**, *10*6 (48), 20458-20463. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0908502106 From NLM.

(82) Roberts, J. N.; Buck, C. B.; Thompson, C. D.; Kines, R.; Bernardo, M.; Choyke, P. L.; Lowy, D. R.; Schiller, J. T. Genital transmission of HPV in a mouse model is potentiated by nonoxynol-9 and inhibited by carrageenan. *Nat Med* **2007**, *13* (7), 857-861. DOI: 10.1038/nm1598 From NLM.

(83) Vieira, G. V.; Somera Dos Santos, F.; Lepique, A. P.; da Fonseca, C. K.; Innocentini,
L.; Braz-Silva, P. H.; Quintana, S. M.; Sales, K. U. Proteases and HPV-Induced
Carcinogenesis. *Cancers (Basel)* 2022, *14* (13). DOI: 10.3390/cancers14133038 From
NLM.

(84) Sano, D.; Oridate, N. The molecular mechanism of human papillomavirus-induced carcinogenesis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Clin Oncol* **2016**, *21* (5), 819-826. DOI: 10.1007/s10147-016-1005-x From NLM.

(85) Muñoz, N.; Bosch, F. X.; de Sanjosé, S.; Herrero, R.; Castellsagué, X.; Shah, K. V.; Snijders, P. J.; Meijer, C. J. Epidemiologic classification of human papillomavirus types associated with cervical cancer. *N Engl J Med* **2003**, *348* (6), 518-527. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa021641 From NLM.

(86) Medda, A.; Duca, D.; Chiocca, S. Human Papillomavirus and Cellular Pathways: Hits and Targets. *Pathogens* **2021**, *10* (3). DOI: 10.3390/pathogens10030262 From NLM.

(87) Spriggs, C. C.; Laimins, L. A. Human Papillomavirus and the DNA Damage Response: Exploiting Host Repair Pathways for Viral Replication. *Viruses* **2017**, 9 (8). DOI: 10.3390/v9080232 From NLM.

(88) Wiest, T.; Schwarz, E.; Enders, C.; Flechtenmacher, C.; Bosch, F. X. Involvement of intact HPV16 E6/E7 gene expression in head and neck cancers with unaltered p53 status and perturbed pRb cell cycle control. *Oncogene* **2002**, *21* (10), 1510-1517. DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205214 From NLM.

(89) Lechner, M.; Liu, J.; Masterson, L.; Fenton, T. R. HPV-associated oropharyngeal cancer: epidemiology, molecular biology and clinical management. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* **2022**, *19* (5), 306-327. DOI: 10.1038/s41571-022-00603-7 From NLM.

72
(90) Paz, I. B.; Cook, N.; Odom-Maryon, T.; Xie, Y.; Wilczynski, S. P. Human papillomavirus (HPV) in head and neck cancer. An association of HPV 16 with squamous cell carcinoma of Waldeyer's tonsillar ring. *Cancer* **1997**, *7*9 (3), 595-604. DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19970201)79:3<595::aid-cncr24>3.0.co;2-y From NLM.

(91) Perry, M. E. The specialised structure of crypt epithelium in the human palatine tonsil and its functional significance. *J Anat* **1994**, *185 ( Pt 1)* (Pt 1), 111-127. From NLM.

(92) Westra, W. H. The morphologic profile of HPV-related head and neck squamous carcinoma: implications for diagnosis, prognosis, and clinical management. *Head Neck Pathol* **2012**, 6 *Suppl* **1** (Suppl 1), S48-54. DOI: 10.1007/s12105-012-0371-6 From NLM.

(93) Elhakeem, A. A. Adenoid and Tonsils. In *Textbook of Clinical Otolaryngology*, Al-Qahtani, A., Haidar, H., Larem, A. Eds.; Springer International Publishing, 2021; pp 647-654.

(94) DiGiuseppe, S.; Bienkowska-Haba, M.; Guion, L. G.; Sapp, M. Cruising the cellular highways: How human papillomavirus travels from the surface to the nucleus. *Virus Res* **2017**, *231*, 1-9. DOI: 10.1016/j.virusres.2016.10.015 From NLM.

(95) Sapp, M.; Bienkowska-Haba, M. Viral entry mechanisms: human papillomavirus and a long journey from extracellular matrix to the nucleus. *Febs j* **2009**, *27*6 (24), 7206-7216. DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07400.x From NLM.

(96) Roberts, S.; Evans, D.; Mehanna, H.; Parish, J. L. Modelling human papillomavirus biology in oropharyngeal keratinocytes. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **2019**, *374* (1773), 20180289. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0289 From NLM.

(97) Balkwill, F.; Mantovani, A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet* **2001**, *357* (9255), 539-545. DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(00)04046-0 From NLM.

(98) Coussens, L. M.; Werb, Z. Inflammation and cancer. *Nature* **2002**, *420* (6917), 860-867. DOI: 10.1038/nature01322 From NLM.

(99) Liu, X.; Ma, X.; Lei, Z.; Feng, H.; Wang, S.; Cen, X.; Gao, S.; Jiang, Y.; Jiang, J.; Chen, Q.; et al. Chronic Inflammation-Related HPV: A Driving Force Speeds Oropharyngeal Carcinogenesis. *PLoS One* **2015**, *10* (7), e0133681. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133681 From NLM.

(100) Pasparakis, M. Regulation of tissue homeostasis by NF-kappaB signalling:
implications for inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2009**, 9 (11), 778-788. DOI:
10.1038/nri2655 From NLM.

(101) Luo, J. L.; Maeda, S.; Hsu, L. C.; Yagita, H.; Karin, M. Inhibition of NF-kappaB in cancer cells converts inflammation- induced tumor growth mediated by TNFalpha to TRAIL-mediated tumor regression. *Cancer Cell* **2004**, 6 (3), 297-305. DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2004.08.012 From NLM.

(102) Hussain, S. P.; Hofseth, L. J.; Harris, C. C. Radical causes of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2003**, *3* (4), 276-285. DOI: 10.1038/nrc1046 From NLM.

(103) Chen, W.; Konkel, J. E. TGF-beta and 'adaptive' Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *J Mol Cell Biol* **2010**, *2* (1), 30-36. DOI: 10.1093/jmcb/mjp004 From NLM.

(104) Derynck, R.; Akhurst, R. J.; Balmain, A. TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nat Genet* **2001**, *2*9 (2), 117-129. DOI: 10.1038/ng1001-117 From NLM.

(105) Chuang, S. C.; Jenab, M.; Heck, J. E.; Bosetti, C.; Talamini, R.; Matsuo, K.; Castellsague, X.; Franceschi, S.; Herrero, R.; Winn, D. M.; et al. Diet and the risk of head and neck cancer: a pooled analysis in the INHANCE consortium. *Cancer Causes Control* **2012**, *23* (1), 69-88. DOI: 10.1007/s10552-011-9857-x From NLM.

(106) Haddad, R.; Tishler, R. B.; Norris, C. M.; Mahadevan, A.; Busse, P.; Wirth, L.; Goguen, L. A.; Sullivan, C. A.; Costello, R.; Case, M. A.; Posner, M. R. Docetaxel, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil (TPF)-based induction chemotherapy for head and neck cancer and the case for sequential, combined-modality treatment. *Oncologist* **2003**, *8* (1), 35-44. DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.8-1-35 From NLM.

(107) Tahara, M.; Kiyota, N.; Yokota, T.; Hasegawa, Y.; Muro, K.; Takahashi, S.; Onoe, T.; Homma, A.; Taguchi, J.; Suzuki, M.; et al. Phase II trial of combination treatment with paclitaxel, carboplatin and cetuximab (PCE) as first-line treatment in patients with recurrent and/or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (CSPOR-HN02). *Ann Oncol* **2018**, *29* (4), 1004-1009. DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy040 From NLM.

(108) Rivera, F.; García-Castaño, A.; Vega, N.; Vega-Villegas, M. E.; Gutiérrez-Sanz, L. Cetuximab in metastatic or recurrent head and neck cancer: the EXTREME trial. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* **2009**, 9 (10), 1421-1428. DOI: 10.1586/era.09.113 From NLM.

(109) Rieckmann, T.; Kriegs, M. The failure of cetuximab-based de-intensified regimes for HPV-positive OPSCC: A radiobiologists perspective. *Clin Transl Radiat Oncol* **2019**, *17*, 47-50. DOI: 10.1016/j.ctro.2019.05.003 From NLM.

(110) Indicators, H. v. u. N. C. C. (canceraustralia.gov.au) (accessed 2024 15 January).

74

(111) Powell, S. F.; Vu, L.; Spanos, W. C.; Pyeon, D. The Key Differences between Human Papillomavirus-Positive and -Negative Head and Neck Cancers: Biological and Clinical Implications. *Cancers (Basel)* **2021**, *13* (20). DOI: 10.3390/cancers13205206 From NLM. (112) Parfenov, M.; Pedamallu, C. S.; Gehlenborg, N.; Freeman, S. S.; Danilova, L.; Bristow, C. A.; Lee, S.; Hadjipanayis, A. G.; Ivanova, E. V.; Wilkerson, M. D.; et al. Characterization of HPV and host genome interactions in primary head and neck cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2014**, *111* (43), 15544-15549. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1416074111 From NLM.

(113) Fakhry, C.; Westra, W. H.; Li, S.; Cmelak, A.; Ridge, J. A.; Pinto, H.; Forastiere, A.; Gillison, M. L. Improved survival of patients with human papillomavirus-positive head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in a prospective clinical trial. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **2008**, *100* (4), 261-269. DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djn011 From NLM.

(114) Ang, K. K.; Harris, J.; Wheeler, R.; Weber, R.; Rosenthal, D. I.; Nguyen-Tân, P. F.; Westra, W. H.; Chung, C. H.; Jordan, R. C.; Lu, C.; et al. Human papillomavirus and survival of patients with oropharyngeal cancer. *N Engl J Med* **2010**, *3*63 (1), 24-35. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0912217 From NLM.

(115) Andl, T.; Kahn, T.; Pfuhl, A.; Nicola, T.; Erber, R.; Conradt, C.; Klein, W.; Helbig, M.; Dietz, A.; Weidauer, H.; Bosch, F. X. Etiological involvement of oncogenic human papillomavirus in tonsillar squamous cell carcinomas lacking retinoblastoma cell cycle control. *Cancer Res* **1998**, *58* (1), 5-13. From NLM.

(116) Braakhuis, B. J.; Snijders, P. J.; Keune, W. J.; Meijer, C. J.; Ruijter-Schippers, H. J.; Leemans, C. R.; Brakenhoff, R. H. Genetic patterns in head and neck cancers that contain or lack transcriptionally active human papillomavirus. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **2004**, *96* (13), 998-1006. DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djh183 From NLM.

(117) McIlwain, W. R.; Sood, A. J.; Nguyen, S. A.; Day, T. A. Initial symptoms in patients with HPV-positive and HPV-negative oropharyngeal cancer. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* **2014**, *140* (5), 441-447. DOI: 10.1001/jamaoto.2014.141 From NLM.

(118) Lewis, J. S., Jr. Morphologic diversity in human papillomavirus-related oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: Catch Me If You Can! *Mod Pathol* **2017**, *30* (s1), S44-s53. DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2016.152 From NLM.

(119) Yasui, T.; Morii, E.; Yamamoto, Y.; Yoshii, T.; Takenaka, Y.; Nakahara, S.; Todo, T.; Inohara, H. Human papillomavirus and cystic node metastasis in oropharyngeal cancer and cancer of unknown primary origin. *PLoS One* **2014**, 9 (4), e95364. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0095364 From NLM.

(120) Tham, T.; Ahn, S.; Frank, D.; Kraus, D.; Costantino, P. Anatomical subsite modifies survival in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: National Cancer Database study. *Head Neck* **2020**, *42* (3), 434-445. DOI: 10.1002/hed.26019 From NLM.

## 7 APPENDIX- Supplementary Material for Manuscript

## **Supplemental Tables & Figures**

**Supplemental Table S1:** Data extraction of the included articles in the scoping review. The 38 articles present the list of HPV-positive (+) and HPV-negative (-) mutated genes. 2 articles out of the 38 articles screened have included both lists of genes. However, the rest included HPV + mutated genes which this scoping review mainly highlights. 330 genes were identified and submitted to enriched analysis. *TP53* (n= 22) and *PIK3CA* (n= 20) genes were the most mutated genes in HPV-related OPC cases.

AU	THOR, YEAR	HPV + GENES MUTATED	HPV - GENES MUTATED
1.	R. Alex Harbison et al., 2018	KMT2D, FGFR3, CYLD, EP300, PIK3CA, RB1, PEG3, STAT3, TTSC2, B2M, CREBBP, FBXW7, FLT1, NCOR1, NSD1, PTEN, USP9X, BRIP1, NBN, NFE2L2, TACC3, ARID1B, ARID5B, DDR2, EPHA2, FANCA, KDM5C, LRRK2, MAP2K2, MAPK1, NOTCH3, PTPRD, SMAD2, SYK, TRAF3, TRRAP, FLT1, IDH2, AR, ASXL1, ATM, AXIN1, BAP1, BCR, CIC, ELF3, FANCA, FAT1, FLT4, GRIN2A, HDAC4, HIF1A, IFNGR1, KMT2D, LRP2, MAP3K5, MED12, MTOR, NBN, PIK3R6, RB1, SRC, TACC3, TRRAP, TSC2, XPO1. RECURRENT OPSCCS:-TP53, CASP8, FAT1, HLA-A, AJUBA, AND NSD1.	
2.	Chung, C. H. et al, 2015	IK3CA, SOX2, MLL2 (KMT2D), RB1, BCL6, EP300, NOTCH1, PTEN, FGFR3, ASXL1, KLHL6, FBXW7, TP53, ATM, BRCA2, BRIP1 (BACH1), LRP1B, ATRX, KDM6A, BRCA1, BLM, JAK2, NF1, HRAS, MYC, ATR, FGF19, FGF3, FGF4, RICTOR	TP53, CDKN2A/B, FGF19, FGF3, FGF4, PIK3CA, CCND1, NOTCH1, LRP1B, SOX2, MLL2 (KMT2D), EGFR, KLHL6, BCL6, ATR, NFE2L2, NOTCH2, MYC, FGFR1, ATRX, JAK2, SMAD4, RICTOR, ZNF703, BRCA2, FOXL2, PRKDC, GPR124, KDM6A, APC.
3.	Doerstling, S. et al., 2023	ATM, CCND1, CDKN2A, RB1, EGFR, FBXW7, FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, IDH1, KRAS, NRAS, HRAS, NOTCH1 AKT1, MTOR, PIK3CA, PTEN, TP53, AR, ALK,, BRAF, BRCA1, BRCA2, CDK/RB PATHWAY (CCND1, CDKN2A, RB1), FGFR1-4, FLT3, JAK2, MET, MLH1, MSH2, MSH6, PI3K PATHWAY (AKT1, MTOR, PIK3CA, PTEN).	
4.	Dogan, S. et al., 2019	TP53, SOX2, CDKN2A/2B, PIK3CA, TP63, KMT2D , NOTCH1, FAT1, 11Q13 GENE CLUSTER (FGF3/FGF4/FGF19/CCND1), FOXA1, NOTCH PATHWAY GENES (NOTCH1, NOTCH2, NOTCH3, NOTCH4, EP300, FBXWN7, SPEN, KDM5A), HISTONE MODIFIERS (KMT2D, CREBBP, KMT2C, EP300, KMT2A). NFE2L2, KEAP1, CUL3, EGFR, ERBB2, FGFR1, FGFR3, FOXA1, TERT, NKX2-1, FGFR1, PMA1P1, ERBB2, EGFR, YAP1, ATM, MYC, KEAP1, CASP8, CUL3. JAK3. MAP3K13, FOXA1, HRAS, CCND1,PIK3/AKT/MTOR PATHWAY, FAT1, RUNX1.	
5.	Dubot, C. et al., 2018	CDKN2B, RB1,MDM2, RICTOR, PI3K, KRAS, NRAS, MAPK, AJUBA, SYNE2, USP9X, KDM6A, NSD1, LRP1B. CELL CYCLE PATHWAY (TP53, CCND1, CDKN2A), PI3K/AKT/MTOR PATHWAY (PIK3CA), TYROSINE KINASE RECEPTORS (EGFR, FGFR1), CELL DIFFERENTIATION (FAT1, NOTCH1).	
6.	Gleber-Netto, F. O. et al., 2018	TP53, NOTCH1, CDKN2A, NOTCH2, PIK3CA, FAT1, FBXW7, KEAP1, NFE2L2, NSD1, TP63, EGFR, HRAS, CASP8, CCND1, TGFBR2	
7.	Gronhoj, C. et al., 2018	APOB, BIRC6, SPTBN1, FAT2, KMT2A, FAT1, BPTF, TRIO, HERC2, KALRN, ZNRF3, BNC2, NOTCH2, FGFR2, SMAD2, AR, SIN3A, PTCH1, DNMT3A, ARHGAP35, F5, IGF1R, CATSPER1, IQGAP1, SFMBT2, MET, DUBP1, TENM2, TSC1, ARID5B, FAT2, FNDC1, BIRC6, PTPN14, QSER1, ALS2CL, PIK3CB, ARID2, NOTCH3, APOB, FGFR1, NF2, NRXN3, MYH9, PRPF8, FOXP1, PEX2, PBRM1, IPO7, SPTA1, TRIO, ABCG1, TJP2, EP300, RET, SLX4, AKT2, FN1, HCFC1, PCDH18, WHSC1, BPTF, CREBBP	

8.	Haft, S. et al., 2019	PIK3CA, KMT2C, FBXW7, FGFR3, CREBBP, FAT1, NSD1, KMT2D, NOTCH1, CASP8, CLTCL1, EPHA2, HLA-A, HRAS, PDE4DIP, PTCH1, PTEN ZNF750, ADCY4, AJUBA, ATM, CTCF, CUL3, FANCA, MET, LRP1B, CASZ1, CYLD, EP300, KALRN, MACF1, ASXL3, CSMD3, DST, FLNC, HUWE1, KIAA1407, ASPM, DNAH5, FAM135B, HERC1, HFM1, LRRC37B, MAP1B, MUC4, MUC5B, POLR3A, TRAF3, SERPINBS, USP6, FLG	
9.	Koncar, R. F. et al., 2017	ABL1, AKT1, ALK, APC, ATM, BRAF, BRCA1, BRCA2, CDH1, C-KIT, CMET, CSF1R, CTNNB1, EGFR, ERBB2, ERBB4, FBXW7, FGFR1, FGFR2, FLT3, GNA11, GNAQ, GNAS, HNF1A, HRAS, IDH1, JAK2, JAK3, KDR, KRAS, MLH1, MPL, NOTCH1, NPM1, NRAS, PDGFRA, PIK3CA, PTEN, PTPN11, RB1, RET, SMAD4, SMARCB1, SMO, STK11, TP53, VHL.	
10.	Labarge, B. et al., 2022	FLG, PIK3CA, MUC12, ZNF750, USE1, KMT2D, MUC6, TP63, SLITRK3, NLRC5, MORN1, EFNB2, HLA- A, KRTAP1-1, B2M, PXN, CDKN2A, RB1, TRAF3, PTEN.	
11. Multi	Lim, S. M. et al., 2019 centric study	TP53, CDKN2A, CCND1, PIK3CA, KMT2C, FAT1, RELN, FAT4, CDKN2B, EGFR, KMT2D, NFE2L2, ADGRV1, NOTCH1, FAT2, CTTN, MYC, GNAS, EPHB4, ASXL3, CHD4, SOX2, ASXL1, KEAP1, AR, NOTCH2, KLHL6, TERT, KRAS, PTEN, MAP3K9, CDH9, CDH1, HPV	
12.	Qin, T. et al., 2018	PDE4DIP, FAT1, NOTCH2, AHNAK, NUMA1, MKI67, ABCC3, ABCC1, PRKDC, TP53, MUC16, NRG1, TIAM1, NOTCH3, CASP8, CEP290, KLRC2, MAP3K1, NBAS, PTPRB	
13.	Reder, H. et al., 2019	TP53, RB1, STK11, CDH1, HRAS, KRAS, NRAS, FAT1, PIK3CA, PIK3R1, PTEN, FANCA, FBXW7, CYLD, BCL6, TP63, TAF1, EP300, DDX3X, NOTCH1, JAK1, JAK2, PDGFRA.	
14.	Reder, H. et al., 2021.	TP53, RB1, STK11, CDH1, HRAS, KRAS, NRAS, FAT1, PIK3CA, PIK3R1, PTEN, FANCA, FBXW7, CYLD, BCL6, TP63, TAF1, EP300, DDX3X, NOTCH1, JAK1, JAK2, PDGFRA.	
15.	Saba, N. F. et al., 2020	PIK3CA, TP53, KMT2A, GNAQ, KDM6A, LAMA2, PTEN, DDX3X, BRCA1, BRCA2, ABCC2, CHD7, ERBB3, H3F3A, INPP4B, RB1, JAK2, NF1, PDGFRA, ALK, FGFR2, MAP2K2, MAPK1, MET, RET, ROS1, SOS1, FLT3, KIT, KRAS, PTEN, INPP4B, AKT1, AKT2, MTOR, PIK3R1, RPS6KB1	
16.	Wahle, B. M. et al., 2022	PIK3CA, FGFR3, ZNF750, SYNE2, FLG, SYNE1, PLXNA1, PLEC, HERC1, ZFHX4, VPS8, USH2A, TRAF3, TACC2, RYR3, PTEN, OTOG, LAMA2, KIAA1109, JRK, FBN3, EP300, DNAH5, DNAH14,	
		CUX1, BIRC5, AK5, SMARCAL1, PIK3R1, IQCG, METTL24, FBXW7, B2M, NRAS, IFI27, HLA-B, FGF2, AKT1, FGF8	
17.	Stransky, N. et al., 2011	TP53, CDKN2A, CASP8, FAT1, NOTCH1, PTEN, SYNE1, HRAS, PIK3CA, MED1, MLL2, TP63, IRF6, EZH2, SYNE2, NOTCH3, RIPK4, NOTCH2, DICER1, RB1.	
18.	Williams, E. A. et al., 2021	PIK3CA, KMT2D, FBXW7, PTEN, KMT2C, TP53, BCL2L1, NOTCH1, RB1, HPV16	
19.	Antonsson, A. et al., 2016	EVER1 & EVER2	
20.	Barten, M. et al., 1995	P53 MUTATION	
21.	Benzerdjeb, N. et al., 2021	TP53 MUTATIONS.	
22.	Chen, Z. et al., 2021	FAT1 MUTATIONS.	
23.	Chiosea, S. I. et al., 2013	PIK3CA, HRAS AND PTEN GENE MUTATIONS.	
24.	Ekalaksananan, T. et al., 2020	P53 R282 GENE MUTATIONS.	
25.	Fallai, C. et al., 2009	TP53 MUTATIONS.	
26.	Farnebo, L. et al., 2015	DNA REPAIR GENES XPC, XPD, XRCC1, XRCC3 AND HPV, P53 MUTATIONS.	
27.	Hong, A. et al., 2016	P53 MUTATIONS.	
28.	Cortelazzi, B. et al., 2015	PIK3CA, PTEN, IGF1R, IGF1, IGF2, HER2, HER3.	
29.	De Carvalho, A. C. et al., 2019	TP53 MUTATIONS.	
30.	Friedland, P. et al., 2012	EGFR, KRAS, BRAF.	
31.	Ghosh, A. et al., 2013	PHF2, FANCC, PTCH1 ALTERATIONS	
32.	Gross, A. M. et al., 2014	TP53 MUTATIONS, CASP8	
33.	Huang, C. et al., 2019	NSD1, NOTCH1, TP53, CDKN2A, PIK3CA	
34.	Licitra, L. et al., 2006	TP53 MUTATIONS.	
35.	Mazurek, A. M. et al., 2016	KRAS, EGFR GENE MUTATIONS	

36. Saba, N. F. et al., 2015 Pilot Study	CDKM2C, SYK, WNT10B, CEBPA, MAP3K8, FGR, GATA1, OL4, PDGFA, CDKN2A, E2F2, TP53, PIK3CA, FGFR3, RB1, MET	
37. Sewell, A. et al., 2014	PIK3CA MUTATIONS	
38. Shaikh, H. et al., 2021	PIK3CA, KMT2D, TP53, LOH, KMT2C, CYLD, FBXW7, NOTCH1, RB1, PIK3CB, PTEN, B2M, NF1, ASXL1, KDM6A, PIK3R2, CHEK2, NSD1, FAT1, MAPK1, CREBBP. TERT, TP53, PIK3CA, RB1, NOTCH1, ARID1A, NF1, KMT2D, FAT1, LOH, ASXL1, KMT2C, CDKN2A, FBXW7, ATM, FGFR3, KDM6A, FANCM, EP300, B2M, KRAS.	TP53, TERT, PIK3CA, NOTCH1, FAT1, CDKN2A, LOH, KMT2D, RB1, KMT2C, ASXL1, NF1, EP300, ARID1A, FBXW7, NFE2L2, CYLD, NSD1, KDM6A, PBRM1, FGFR3, HRAS. TP53, TERT, CDKN2A, LOH, KMT2D, NOTCH1, PIK3CA, FAT1, ARID1A, ASXL1, KMT2C, NSD1, FBXW7, EP300, RB1, CREBBP, NF1, CYLD, KDM6A, HRAS, PTEN, NFE2L2.

## **Supplemental Table S2:** Distribution of the OSCC cases according to demographic, lifestyle, and clinical variables.

Variable	Category	Paraffin- embedded		HELA2 n (%)	
		samples n(%)	Negative	Positive	P-value
Age	< 50 year	8 (15.4)	7 (16.7)	1 (10)	0.599
C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	$\geq$ 50 year	44 (84.6)	35 (83.3)	9 (90)	
Gender	Male	31 (59.6)	26 (61.9)	5 (50)	0.500
	Female	21 (40.4)	16 (38.1)	5 (50)	
Smoking habit	No	23 (44.2)	21 (53.8)	2 (22.2)	0.087
	Yes	29 (55.8)	18 (46.2)	7 (77.8)	
Alcohol consumption	No	16 (37.2)	13 (37.1)	3 (37.5)	0.985
F	Yes	27 (62.8)	22 (62.9)	5 (62.5)	
Clinical stage	T1+T2	32 (61.5)	29 (69)	3 (30)	0.023
C	T3+T4	20 (38.5)	13 (31)	7 (70)	
Lymph nodes	NO	40 (76.9)	34 (81)	6 (60)	0.158
	N+	12 (23.1)	8 (19)	4 (40)	
Recurrence or metastasis	No	40 (76.9)	31 (73.8)	9 (90)	0.275
	Yes	12 (23.1)	11 (26.2)	1 (10)	
Status	Alive	45 (86.5)	37 (88.1)	8 (80)	0.500
	Dead	7 (13.5)	5 (11.9)	2 (20)	

**Supplemental Figure S1:** shows list of all genes mutated with highlighting on the most cited genes which are *TP53* (n=22), *PIK3CA* (n=20), *PTEN* (n=16), *NOTCH1* (n=14), *RB1* (n=13), *FAT1* (n=13), *FBXW7* (n=12), *HRAS* (n=10), *KRAS* (n=10) and *CDKN2A* (n=10). Different colour codes representing the 38 articles screened to show which gene was collected from which article. The most frequently mutated gene is *TP53* followed by *PIK3CA*. Genes for cell survival and proliferation (*TP53*, *HRAS* & *PIK3CA*), cell-cycle control (*CDKN2A*), cellular differentiation (*NOTCH1*), and adhesion and invasion signalling (*FAT*). Tumor suppressor Genes (*FAT1*, *NOTCH1* & *CDKN2A*).





125 0112	2	-						_	
125 CUL3 126 ERBB2	2				 			 	
120 ERBD2 127 TERT	3							 	
128 NKX2	1								
129 NKX1	1								
130 PMA1P1	1								
131 YAP1	1								
132 JAK3	2								
133 MAP3K13	1							_	
134 MDM2	1								_
135 PI3K	1				 				
136 MAPK	1				_	_		_	
137 SYNE2	3				_			_	
138 TGFBR2	1				_	_		 _	
139 IQGAP1	1							_	
140 APOB	1					_			_
141 BIRC6	1					_			
142 SPTBN1	1				_	_		 	
143 FAT2	2					_		_	
144 BPTF	1								
145 TRIO	1								
146 HERC2	1								
147 KALRN	2								
148 ZNRF3	1								
149 BNC2	1							_	
150 SIN3A	1						-		
151 PTCH1	3								
152 DNMT3A	1								
153 APHGAP35	1								
154 F5	1								
155 IGF1R	2								
156 CATSPER1	1								
157 SFMBT2	1								
158 DUBP1	1								
159 TENM2	1								
160 TSC1	1								
161 FNDC1	1								
162 PTPN14	1								
163 QSER1	1								
164 ALS2CL	1								
165 ARID2	1								
166 NF2	1								
167 NRXN3	1								
168 MYH9	1								
169 PRPF8	1								
170 FOXP1	1								
171 PEX2	1								
172 PBRM1	1								
173 IPO7	1								
174 SPTA1	1								
175 ABCG1	1								
176 TJP2	1								
177 RET	3								
178 SLX4	1								
179 AKT2	2								
180 FN1	1								
181 HCFC1	1								
182 PCDH18	1								
183 WHSC1	1								
184 CLTCL1	1								
185 PDE4DIP	2								
186 ADCY4	1								
187 CTCF	1								
			 	 	 			 _	

199	CASZ1	1				
	MACF1	1				
	ASXL3	2				
	CSMD3	1				
192	DST	1				
	FLNC	1				
	HUWE1	1				
	KIAA1407	1				
	ASPM	1				
	DNAH5	2 1				
	FAM135B HERC1	2				
	HFM1	1				
	LRRC37B	1				
	MAP1B	1				
203	MUC4	1				
	MUC5B	1				
	POLR3A	1				
	SERPINB5	1				
	USP6 FLG	1 3				
	ABL1	1				
	APC	1				
	CDH1	4				
212	c-KIT	1				
	cMET	1				
	CSF1R	1				
	CTNNB1	1	 			
	ERBB4 GNA11	1				
	GNAU	2				
	GNAG	2				
	HNF1A	1				
	KDR	1				
222	MPL	1				
	NPM1	1				
	PDGFRA	4				
	PTPN11 SMAD4	1				
	SMARCB1	1				
	SMO	1				
	VHL	1				
230	MUC12	1				
	USE1	1				
	MUC6	1				
	SLITRK3	1				
	NLRC5 MORN1	1		 		
	EFNB2	1				
	KRTAP1-1	1				
238	PXN	1				
	RELN	1				
	FAT4	1		 		
	ADGRV1	1				
	CTTN EPHB4	1				
	CHD4	1				
	MAP3K9	1				
	CDH9	1				
	AHNAK	1				
	NUMA1	1				
	MKI67	1		 		
	ABCC3	1				
	ABCC1 PRKDC	1				
	MUC16	1				
	NRG1	1				
	TIAM1	1				
	CEP290	1				
	KLRC2	1				
	MAP3K1	1				
	NBAS	1				
260	PTPRB	1				

201 7454					
261 TAF1 262 DDX3X	2 3				
263 JAK1	2				
264 LAMA2	2				
265 ABCC2	1				
266 CHD7	1				
267 ERBB3	1				
268 H3F3A	1				
269 INPP4B	1				
270 ROS1	1				
271 SOS1	1				
272 FLT3	1				
273 KIT	1				
274 RPS6KB1	1				
275 PLXNA1	1				
276 PLEC	1				
277 VPS8	1				
278 TACC2	1				
279 RYR3	1				
280 OTOG	1				
281 KIAA1109	1				
282 JRK	1				
283 FBN3	1				
284 DNAH14	1				
285 CUX1	1				
286 BIRC5	1				
287 AK5	1				
288 SMARCAL1	1			 	
289 PIK3R1	1		 		
290 IQCG	1		 	 	
291 METTL24	1	 	 	 	
292 IFI27	1			 	
293 HLA-B	1			 	
294 FGF2	1				
295 FGF8	1			 	
296 MED1 297 IRF6	1			 	
298 EZH2	1				
299 RIPK4	1				
300 DICER1	1				
301 BCL2L1	1				
302 HPV 16	1				
303 EVER 1	1				
304 EVER 2	1				
305 <b>P53</b>	4				
306 XRCC1	1				
307 XRCC3	1				
308 XPC	1				
309 XPD	1				
310 IGF1	1				
311 IGF2	1				
312 HER2	1				
313 HER3	1				
314 PHF2	1				
315 FANCC	1				
316 CDKM2C	1				
317 WNT10B	1				
318 CEBPA	1				
319 MAP3K8	1				
320 FGR	1				
321 GATA1	1				
322 OL4	1				
323 PDGFA	1				
324 E2F2	1				
325 LOH	1				
326 PIK3R2	1				
327 CHEK2	1				
	1				
328 ARID1A					
328 ARIDIA 329 FANCM 330 NOTCH 4					